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Financial Statements 

and Analysis

L E A R N I N G  G O A L S
Review the contents of the stockholders’
report and the procedures for consoli-
dating international financial statements.

Understand who uses financial ratios, 
and how.

Use ratios to analyze a firm’s liquidity 
and activity.

LG3

LG2

LG1 Discuss the relationship between debt and
financial leverage and the ratios used to
analyze a firm’s debt.

Use ratios to analyze a firm’s profitability
and its market value.

Use a summary of financial ratios and the
DuPont system of analysis to perform a
complete ratio analysis.

LG6

LG5

LG4

Accounting: You need to understand the stock-
holders’ report and preparation of the four key finan-
cial statements; how firms consolidate international
financial statements; and how to calculate and inter-
pret financial ratios for decision making.

Information systems: You need to understand what
data are included in the firm’s financial statements to
design systems that will supply such data to those
who prepare the statements and to those in the firm
who use the data for ratio calculations.

Management: You need to understand what parties
are interested in the stockholders’ report and why;
how the financial statements will be analyzed by
those both inside and outside the firm to assess var-
ious aspects of performance; the caution that should

be exercised in using financial ratio analysis; and how
the financial statements affect the value of the firm.

Marketing: You need to understand the effects your
decisions will have on the financial statements, par-
ticularly the income statement and the statement 
of cash flows, and how analysis of ratios, especially
those involving sales figures, will affect the firm’s
decisions about levels of inventory, credit policies,
and pricing decisions.

Operations: You need to understand how the costs
of operations are reflected in the firm’s financial
statements and how analysis of ratios, particularly
those involving assets, cost of goods sold, or inven-
tory, may affect requests for new equipment or
facilities.

Across the Disciplines Why This Chapter Matters to You
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A ll companies gather financial data about their operations and report this infor-
mation in financial statements for interested parties. These statements are

widely standardized, and so we can use the data in them to make comparisons
between firms and over time. Analysis of certain items of financial data can identify
areas where the firm excels and, also, areas of opportunity for improvement. This
chapter reviews the content of financial statements and explains categories of finan-
cial ratios and their use.

The Stockholders’ Report
Every corporation has many and varied uses for the standardized records and
reports of its financial activities. Periodically, reports must be prepared for regu-
lators, creditors (lenders), owners, and management. The guidelines used to pre-
pare and maintain financial records and reports are known as generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). These accounting practices and procedures are
authorized by the accounting profession’s rule-setting body, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, enacted
in an effort to eliminate the many disclosure and conflict of interest problems 
of corporations, established the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB), which is a not-for-profit corporation that oversees auditors of public
corporations. The PCAOB is charged with protecting the interests of investors
and furthering the public interest in the preparation of informative, fair, and
independent audit reports. The expectation is that it will instill confidence in
investors with regard to the accuracy of the audited financial statements of public
companies.

Publicly owned corporations with more than $5 million in assets and 500 or
more stockholders1 are required by the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC)—the federal regulatory body that governs the sale and listing of securi-
ties—to provide their stockholders with an annual stockholders’ report. The
stockholders’ report summarizes and documents the firm’s financial activities
during the past year. It begins with a letter to the stockholders from the firm’s
president and/or chairman of the board.

The Letter to Stockholders
The letter to stockholders is the primary communication from management. It
describes the events that are considered to have had the greatest effect on the 
firm during the year. It also generally discusses management philosophy, strate-
gies, and actions, as well as plans for the coming year. Links at this book’s Web
site (www.aw-bc.com/gitman) will take you to some representative letters to
stockholders.

LG1
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1. Although the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) does not have an official definition of publicly owned,
these financial measures mark the cutoff point it uses to require informational reporting, regardless of whether the
firm publicly sells its securities. Firms that do not meet these requirements are commonly called “closely owned” firms.

generally accepted
accounting principles
(GAAP)
The practice and procedure 
guidelines used to prepare
and maintain financial records
and reports; authorized by 
the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB).

Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB)
The accounting profession’s
rule-setting body, which
authorizes generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP).

Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB)
A not-for-profit corporation
established by the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 to protect
the interests of investors and
further the public interest in
the preparation of informative,
fair, and independent audit
reports.

Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC)
The federal regulatory body
that governs the sale and
listing of securities.

stockholders’ report
Annual report that publicly
owned corporations must
provide to stockholders; it
summarizes and documents
the firm’s financial activities
during the past year.

letter to stockholders
Typically, the first element 
of the annual stockholders’
report and the primary
communication 
from management. WWW
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The Four Key Financial Statements
The four key financial statements required by the SEC for reporting to share-
holders are (1) the income statement, (2) the balance sheet, (3) the statement of
stockholders’ equity, and (4) the statement of cash flows.2 The financial state-
ments from the 2006 stockholders’ report of Bartlett Company, a manufacturer
of metal fasteners, are presented and briefly discussed. Note that an abbreviated
form of the statement of stockholders’ equity—the statement of retained earn-
ings—is described in the following discussions.

Income Statement
The income statement provides a financial summary of the firm’s operating results
during a specified period. Most common are income statements covering a 1-year
period ending at a specified date, ordinarily December 31 of the calendar year.
Many large firms, however, operate on a 12-month financial cycle, or fiscal year,
that ends at a time other than December 31. In addition, monthly income state-
ments are typically prepared for use by management, and quarterly statements
must be made available to the stockholders of publicly owned corporations.

Table 2.1 (see page 42) presents Bartlett Company’s income statements for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. The 2006 statement begins with
sales revenue—the total dollar amount of sales during the period—from which
the cost of goods sold is deducted. The resulting gross profits of $986,000 repre-
sent the amount remaining to satisfy operating, financial, and tax costs. Next,
operating expenses, which include selling expense, general and administrative
expense, lease expense, and depreciation expense, are deducted from gross
profits.3 The resulting operating profits of $418,000 represent the profits earned
from producing and selling products; this amount does not consider financial 
and tax costs. (Operating profit is often called earnings before interest and 
taxes, or EBIT.) Next, the financial cost—interest expense—is subtracted 
from operating profits to find net profits (or earnings) before taxes. After sub-
tracting $93,000 in 2006 interest, Bartlett Company had $325,000 of net profits
before taxes.

Next, taxes are calculated at the appropriate tax rates and deducted to deter-
mine net profits (or earnings) after taxes. Bartlett Company’s net profits after
taxes for 2006 were $231,000. Any preferred stock dividends must be subtracted
from net profits after taxes to arrive at earnings available for common stock-
holders. This is the amount earned by the firm on behalf of the common stock-
holders during the period.

Dividing earnings available for common stockholders by the number of
shares of common stock outstanding results in earnings per share (EPS). EPS rep-
resent the number of dollars earned during the period on behalf of each out-
standing share of common stock. In 2006, Bartlett Company earned $221,000

CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 41

income statement
Provides a financial summary
of the firm’s operating results
during a specified period.

Hint Some firms, such as
retailers and agricultural firms,
end their fiscal year at the end
of their operating cycle rather
than at the end of the calendar
year—for example, retailers 
at the end of January and
agricultural firms at the end 
of September.

2. Whereas these statement titles are consistently used throughout this text, it is important to recognize that in prac-
tice, companies frequently use different titles. For example, General Electric uses “Statement of Earnings” rather
than “Income Statement” and “Statement of Financial Position” rather than “Balance Sheet.” Both Nextel and
Qualcomm use “Statement of Operations” rather than “Income Statement.”

3. Depreciation expense can be, and frequently is, included in manufacturing costs—cost of goods sold—to calculate
gross profits. Depreciation is shown as an expense in this text to isolate its effect on cash flows.

Principles of Managerial Finance, Brief Fourth Edition, by Lawrence J. Gitman. Published by Addison Wesley, a Pearson Education Company. Copyright © 2006 by Lawrence

IS
B

N
:0

-5
36

-3
63

00
-5

J. Gitman.



for its common stockholders, which represents $2.90 for each outstanding share.
The actual cash dividend per share (DPS), which is the dollar amount of cash
distributed during the period on behalf of each outstanding share of common
stock, paid in 2006 was $1.29.

Balance Sheet
The balance sheet presents a summary statement of the firm’s financial position
at a given point in time. The statement balances the firm’s assets (what it owns)
against its financing, which can be either debt (what it owes) or equity (what was
provided by owners). Bartlett Company’s balance sheets as of December 31 of
2006 and 2005 are presented in Table 2.2. They show a variety of asset, liability
(debt), and equity accounts.

42 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

Bartlett Company Income Statements ($000)

For the years ended
December 31

2006 2005

Sales revenue $3,074 $2,567

Less: Cost of goods sold

Gross profits

Less: Operating expenses

Selling expense $ 100 $ 108

General and administrative expenses 194 187

Lease expensea 35 35

Depreciation expense

Total operating expense

Operating profits $ 418 $ 303

Less: Interest expense

Net profits before taxes $ 325 $ 212

Less: Taxes (rate ! 29%)b

Net profits after taxes $ 231 $ 148

Less: Preferred stock dividends

Earnings available for common stockholders

Earnings per share (EPS)c $ 2.90 $ 1.81

Dividend per share (DPS)d $ 1.29 $ 0.75

aLease expense is shown here as a separate item rather than being included as part of interest expense, 
as specified by the FASB for financial reporting purposes. The approach used here is consistent with tax
reporting rather than financial reporting procedures.
bThe 29% tax rate for 2006 results because the firm has certain special tax write-offs that do not show up
directly on its income statement.
cCalculated by dividing the earnings available for common stockholders by the number of shares 
of common stock outstanding—76,262 in 2006 and 76,244 in 2005. Earnings per share in 2006:
$221,000"76,262 ! $2.90; in 2005: $138,000"76,244 ! $1.81.
dCalculated by dividing the dollar amount of dividends paid to common stockholders by the number of
shares of common stock outstanding. Dividends per share in 2006: $98,000"76,262 ! $1.29; in 2005:
$57,183"76,244 ! $0.75.

$ 138$ 221

1010

6494

9193

$ 553$ 568

223239

$ 856$ 986

1,7112,088

TAB LE 2 .1

dividend per share (DPS)
The dollar amount of cash
distributed during the period
on behalf of each outstanding
share of common stock.

balance sheet
Summary statement of the
firm’s financial position at 
a given point in time.
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Bartlett Company Balance Sheets ($000)

December 31

Assets 2006 2005

Current assets

Cash $ 363 $ 288

Marketable securities 68 51

Accounts receivable 503 365

Inventories

Total current assets

Gross fixed assets (at cost)a

Land and buildings $2,072 $1,903

Machinery and equipment 1,866 1,693

Furniture and fixtures 358 316

Vehicles 275 314

Other (includes financial leases)

Total gross fixed assets (at cost) $4,669 $4,322

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Net fixed assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 382 $ 270

Notes payable 79 99

Accruals

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt (includes financial leases)b

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock—cumulative 5%, $100 par, 2,000 shares
authorized and issuedc $ 200 $ 200

Common stock—$2.50 par, 100,000 shares authorized, shares
issued and outstanding in 2006: 76,262; in 2005: 76,244 191 190

Paid-in capital in excess of par on common stock 428 418

Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

aIn 2006, the firm has a 6-year financial lease requiring annual beginning-of-year payments of $35,000.
Four years of the lease have yet to run.
bAnnual principal repayments on a portion of the firm’s total outstanding debt amount to $71,000.
cThe annual preferred stock dividend would be $5 per share (5%#$100 par), or a total of $10,000
annually ($5 per share#2,000 shares).

$3,270$3,597

$1,820$1,954

1,0121,135

$1,450$1,643

$ 967$1,023

$ 483$ 620

114159

$3,270$3,597

$2,266$2,374

2,0562,295

9698

$1,004$1,223

300289

TAB LE 2 .2
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An important distinction is made between short-term and long-term assets
and liabilities. The current assets and current liabilities are short-term assets and
liabilities. This means that they are expected to be converted into cash (current
assets) or paid (current liabilities) within 1 year or less. All other assets and lia-
bilities, along with stockholders’ equity, which is assumed to have an infinite life,
are considered long-term, or fixed, because they are expected to remain on the
firm’s books for more than 1 year.

As is customary, the assets are listed from the most liquid—cash—down to
the least liquid. Marketable securities are very liquid short-term investments, such
as U.S. Treasury bills or certificates of deposit, held by the firm. Because they are
highly liquid, marketable securities are viewed as a form of cash (“near cash”).
Accounts receivable represent the total monies owed the firm by its customers on
credit sales made to them. Inventories include raw materials, work in process
(partially finished goods), and finished goods held by the firm. The entry for
gross fixed assets is the original cost of all fixed (long-term) assets owned by the
firm.4 Net fixed assets represent the difference between gross fixed assets and
accumulated depreciation—the total expense recorded for the depreciation of
fixed assets. (The net value of fixed assets is called their book value.)

Like assets, the liabilities and equity accounts are listed from short-term to
long-term. Current liabilities include accounts payable, amounts owed for credit
purchases by the firm; notes payable, outstanding short-term loans, typically
from commercial banks; and accruals, amounts owed for services for which a bill
may not or will not be received. (Examples of accruals include taxes due the gov-
ernment and wages due employees.) Long-term debt represents debt for which
payment is not due in the current year. Stockholders’ equity represents the
owners’ claims on the firm. The preferred stock entry shows the historical pro-
ceeds from the sale of preferred stock ($200,000 for Bartlett Company).

Next, the amount paid by the original purchasers of common stock is shown
by two entries: common stock and paid-in capital in excess of par on common
stock. The common stock entry is the par value of common stock. Paid-in capital
in excess of par represents the amount of proceeds in excess of the par value
received from the original sale of common stock. The sum of the common stock
and paid-in capital accounts divided by the number of shares outstanding repre-
sents the original price per share received by the firm on a single issue of common
stock. Bartlett Company therefore received about $8.12 per share [($191,000 par
$$428,000 paid-in capital in excess of par)"76,262 shares] from the sale of its
common stock.

Finally, retained earnings represent the cumulative total of all earnings, net of
dividends, that have been retained and reinvested in the firm since its inception. It
is important to recognize that retained earnings are not cash but rather have been
utilized to finance the firm’s assets.

Bartlett Company’s balance sheets in Table 2.2 show that the firm’s total
assets increased from $3,270,000 in 2005 to $3,597,000 in 2006. The $327,000
increase was due primarily to the $219,000 increase in current assets. The asset
increase, in turn, appears to have been financed primarily by an increase of
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retained earnings
The cumulative total of all
earnings, net of dividends,
that have been retained and
reinvested in the firm since 
its inception.

current assets
Short-term assets, expected to
be converted into cash within
1 year or less.

current liabilities
Short-term liabilities, expected
to be paid within 1 year 
or less.

Hint Another interpretation
of the balance sheet is that on
one side are the assets that have
been purchased to be used to
increase the profit of the firm.
The other side indicates how
these assets were acquired,
either by borrowing or by
investing the owners’ money.

long-term debt
Debts for which payment is
not due in the current year.

paid-in capital in excess 
of par
The amount of proceeds 
in excess of the par value
received from the original 
sale of common stock.

4. For convenience the term fixed assets is used throughout this text to refer to what, in a strict accounting sense, is
captioned “property, plant, and equipment.” This simplification of terminology permits certain financial concepts to
be more easily developed.
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$193,000 in total liabilities. Better insight into these changes can be derived from
the statement of cash flows, which we will discuss shortly.

Statement of Retained Earnings
The statement of retained earnings is an abbreviated form of the statement of
stockholders’ equity. Unlike the statement of stockholders’ equity, which shows all
equity account transactions that occurred during a given year, the statement of
retained earnings reconciles the net income earned during a given year, and any
cash dividends paid, with the change in retained earnings between the start and the
end of that year. Table 2.3 presents this statement for Bartlett Company for the year
ended December 31, 2006. The statement shows that the company began the year
with $1,012,000 in retained earnings and had net profits after taxes of $231,000,
from which it paid a total of $108,000 in dividends, resulting in year-end retained
earnings of $1,135,000. Thus the net increase for Bartlett Company was $123,000
($231,000 net profits after taxes minus $108,000 in dividends) during 2006.

Statement of Cash Flows
The statement of cash flows is a summary of the cash flows over the period of con-
cern. The statement provides insight into the firm’s operating, investment, and
financing cash flows and reconciles them with changes in its cash and marketable
securities during the period. Bartlett Company’s statement of cash flows for the
year ended December 31, 2006, is presented in Table 2.4 (see page 46). Further
insight into this statement is included in the discussion of cash flow in Chapter 3.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Included with published financial statements are explanatory notes keyed to the
relevant accounts in the statements. These notes to the financial statements pro-
vide detailed information on the accounting policies, procedures, calculations,
and transactions underlying entries in the financial statements. Common issues
addressed by these notes include revenue recognition, income taxes, breakdowns
of fixed asset accounts, debt and lease terms, and contingencies. Professional
securities analysts use the data in the statements and notes to develop estimates 
of the value of securities that the firm issues, and these estimates influence the
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Bartlett Company Statement of Retained Earnings ($000) 
for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Retained earnings balance (January 1, 2006) $1,012

Plus: Net profits after taxes (for 2006) 231

Less: Cash dividends (paid during 2006)

Preferred stock $10

Common stock

Total dividends paid

Retained earnings balance (December 31, 2006) $1,135

108

98

TAB LE 2 .3

statement of stockholders’
equity
Shows all equity account
transactions that occurred
during a given year.

statement of retained
earnings
Reconciles the net income
earned during a given year,
and any cash dividends paid,
with the change in retained
earnings between the start
and the end of that year. 
An abbreviated form of the
statement of stockholders’
equity.

statement of cash flows
Provides a summary of the
firm’s operating, investment,
and financing cash flows and
reconciles them with changes
in its cash and marketable
securities during the period.

notes to the financial
statements
Footnotes detailing infor-
mation on the accounting
policies, procedures,
calculations, and transactions
underlying entries in the
financial statements.

Principles of Managerial Finance, Brief Fourth Edition, by Lawrence J. Gitman. Published by Addison Wesley, a Pearson Education Company. Copyright © 2006 by Lawrence

IS
B

N
:0

-5
36

-3
63

00
-5

J. Gitman.



actions of investors and therefore the firm’s share value. The In Practice box on
the facing page discusses some common corporate accounting misdeeds, their
potential impact on investors, and how SOX has helped to eliminate them.

Consolidating International Financial Statements
So far, we’ve discussed financial statements involving only one currency, the U.S.
dollar. The issue of how to consolidate a company’s foreign and domestic financial
statements has bedeviled the accounting profession for many years. The current
policy is described in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Standard No.
52, which mandates that U.S.-based companies translate their foreign-currency-
denominated assets and liabilities into dollars, for consolidation with the parent
company’s financial statements. This is done by converting all of a U.S. parent
company’s foreign-currency-denominated assets and liabilities into dollar values
using the exchange rate prevailing at the fiscal year ending date (the current rate).
Income statement items are treated similarly. Equity accounts, on the other hand,
are translated into dollars by using the exchange rate that prevailed when the
parent’s equity investment was made (the historical rate). Retained earnings are
adjusted to reflect each year’s operating profits or losses.
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Bartlett Company Statement of Cash Flows ($000) 
for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net profits after taxes $231

Depreciation 239

Increase in accounts receivable ( 138)a

Decrease in inventories 11

Increase in accounts payable 112

Increase in accruals

Cash provided by operating activities $500

Cash Flow from Investment Activities
Increase in gross fixed assets ($347)

Change in business interests

Cash provided by investment activities ( 347)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Decrease in notes payable ($ 20)

Increase in long-term debts 56

Changes in stockholders’ equityb 11

Dividends paid ( )

Cash provided by financing activities ( )

Net increase in cash and marketable securities

aAs is customary, parentheses are used to denote a negative number, which in this case is a cash outflow.
bRetained earnings are excluded here, because their change is actually reflected in the combination of the
“net profits after taxes” and “dividends paid” entries.

$ 92

61

108

0

45

TAB LE 2 .4

Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB)
Standard No. 52
Mandates that U.S.-based
companies translate their
foreign-currency-denominated
assets and liabilities into
dollars, for consoli-
dation with the parent
company’s financial
statements. This is done 
by using the current rate
(translation) method.
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Review Questions
2–1 What roles do GAAP, the FASB, and the PCAOB play in the financial

reporting activities of public companies?
2–2 Describe the purpose of each of the four major financial statements.
2–3 Why are the notes to the financial statements important to professional

securities analysts?
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In Practice F O C U S  O N  E T H I C S

I N V E S T O R S  A N D  S O X  D E C L A R E  W A R  
O N  A C C O U N T I N G  M I S D E E D S

If you are a student at Rutgers
University, you may have taken the
new course “Cooking the Books,”
which is entirely focused on finan-
cial fraud. If you study business at
Seton Hall University (ex-Tyco CFO
Dennis Kozlowski’s alma mater),
you may enroll in a class showing
how accounting numbers can be
altered by manipulation. New
courses such as these may help
deter future accounting fiascos:
According to Professors Richard
McKenzie (University of California
at Irvine) and Tibor Machan
(Chapman University), knowing
which accounting and finance
practices are proper is key to
keeping companies honest, as is
the personal integrity of account-
ants and financial managers.

Financial statements are
often misstated—and not just by
the Tycos, Enrons, and WorldComs
of the business world. The SEC 
has implemented a special effort
to prevent fraudulent earnings-
management practices. Marianne
Jennings, an expert in this area,
asserts that common techniques
used by corporate accountants to
increase or reduce a year’s rev-
enues or expenses include the fol-
lowing: writing down inventory,
writing up inventory valuation to
meet profit target, recording sup-
plies or expenses early, delaying

invoices, selling excess assets,
and deferring expenditures. Arthur
Levitt, chairman of the SEC, also 
sees evidence of “cookie jar
reserves”—a practice in which
unrealistic assumptions are 
used to overstate or understate
expenses for the period, so as to
reduce earnings in some years
and to increase earnings in “down
years.” The result is a more stable
yearly pattern of earnings.

What about the auditors of
the financial statements in these
cases, you ask? One study of 
33 companies that experienced
accounting problems indicated
that 31 of those companies were
handed a clean bill of health by
their auditors. When an inde-
pendent research firm called
RateFinancials studied the annual
stockholders’ reports and other
financial documents of 120 major
companies, it estimated that as
many as one-third do not accu-
rately depict their true financial
condition in one or more of their
financial reports.

Is shareholder wealth being
maximized by these practices?
Jennings cites evidence that when
earnings manipulation is discov-
ered, the companies’ stock prices
drop by 9 percent, on average. For
the 33 companies cited previously,
shareholder wealth dropped from

$1.8 trillion to $527 billion following
the revelation of the accounting
misdeeds.

Investors were cheered
by the passage in 2002 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX), whose
subtitle is “The Public Company
Accounting Reform and Investor
Protection Act” (discussed in
Chapter 1). Included in SOX are
provisions for criminal penalties
for altering documents, require-
ment for a code of ethics for the
senior financial officers, require-
ment for the CEO and CFO to sign
off on annual reports, new require-
ments for auditor independence,
and certification of a company’s
internal controls. More accurate
and truthful information will reduce
the uncertainty of the information
flow that investors appraise in
valuing stock.

Sources: Marianne M. Jennings, “Earning
Management: The Ethical Issues Remain,”
Corporate Finance Review 3(5), pp. 39–41
(March/April 1999); Jennifer Oladip,
“Business Ethics 101,” The Columbus
Dispatch, July 28, 2002, pp. F1–F2; 
Bruce Meyerson, “Efforts at Transparency
Too Obscure for Words,” Seattle Times,
June 23, 2004. Accessed online at:
www.seattletimes.nwsource.com.

! Of the provisions listed for SOX,
which one do you think will have the
greatest effect on the accuracy and
trustworthiness of financial state-
ments? Defend your answer.
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Using Financial Ratios
The information contained in the four basic financial statements is of major sig-
nificance to a variety of interested parties who regularly need to have relative
measures of the company’s operating efficiency. Relative is the key word here,
because the analysis of financial statements is based on the use of ratios or
relative values. Ratio analysis involves methods of calculating and interpreting
financial ratios to analyze and monitor the firm’s performance. The basic inputs
to ratio analysis are the firm’s income statement and balance sheet.

Interested Parties
Ratio analysis of a firm’s financial statements is of interest to shareholders, cred-
itors, and the firm’s own management. Both current and prospective shareholders
are interested in the firm’s current and future levels of risk and return, which
directly affect share price. The firm’s creditors are interested primarily in the
short-term liquidity of the company and its ability to make interest and principal
payments. A secondary concern of creditors is the firm’s profitability; they want
assurance that the business is healthy. Management, like stockholders, is con-
cerned with all aspects of the firm’s financial situation, and it attempts to produce
financial ratios that will be considered favorable by both owners and creditors. In
addition, management uses ratios to monitor the firm’s performance from period
to period.

Types of Ratio Comparisons
Ratio analysis is not merely the calculation of a given ratio. More important is
the interpretation of the ratio value. A meaningful basis for comparison is needed
to answer such questions as “Is it too high or too low?” and “Is it good or bad?”
Two types of ratio comparisons can be made: cross-sectional and time-series.

Cross-Sectional Analysis
Cross-sectional analysis involves the comparison of different firms’ financial
ratios at the same point in time. Analysts are often interested in how well a firm
has performed in relation to other firms in its industry. Frequently, a firm will
compare its ratio values to those of a key competitor or group of competitors that
it wishes to emulate. This type of cross-sectional analysis, called benchmarking,
has become very popular.

Comparison to industry averages is also popular. These figures can be 
found in the Almanac of Business and Industrial Financial Ratios, Dun &
Bradstreet’s Industry Norms and Key Business Ratios, Business Month, FTC
Quarterly Reports, RMA Annual Statement Studies, Value Line, and industry
sources.5 A sample from one available source of industry averages is given in
Table 2.5.

LG2
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ratio analysis
Involves methods of
calculating and interpreting
financial ratios to analyze 
and monitor the firm’s
performance.

Hint Management should
be the most interested party
of this group. Managers not
only have to worry about the
financial situation of the firm,
but they are also critically
interested in what the other
parties think about the firm.

cross-sectional analysis
Comparison of different firms’
financial ratios at the same
point in time; involves
comparing the firm’s ratios 
to those of other firms in 
its industry or to industry
averages.

benchmarking
A type of cross-sectional
analysis in which the firm’s
ratio values are compared to
those of a key competitor or
group of competitors that it
wishes to emulate.

5. Cross-sectional comparisons of firms operating in several lines of business are difficult to perform. Weighted-
average industry average ratios based on the firm’s product-line mix can be used or, if data are available, analysis of
the firm on a product-line basis can be performed to evaluate a multiproduct firm.
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Many people mistakenly believe that as long as the firm being analyzed has a
value “better than” the industry average, it can be viewed favorably. However,
this “better than average” viewpoint can be misleading. Quite often a ratio value
that is far better than the norm can indicate problems that, on more careful
analysis, may be more severe than had the ratio been worse than the industry
average. It is therefore important to investigate significant deviations to either
side of the industry standard.

In early 2007, Mary Boyle, the chief financial analyst at Caldwell Manufacturing,
a producer of heat exchangers, gathered data on the firm’s financial performance
during 2006, the year just ended. She calculated a variety of ratios and obtained
industry averages. She was especially interested in inventory turnover, which
reflects the speed with which the firm moves its inventory from raw materials
through production into finished goods and to the customer as a completed sale.
Generally, higher values of this ratio are preferred, because they indicate a
quicker turnover of inventory. Caldwell Manufacturing’s calculated inventory
turnover for 2006 and the industry average inventory turnover were as follows:

Inventory turnover, 2006

Caldwell Manufacturing 14.8
Industry average 9.7

E X A M P L E
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Hint Industry averages 
are not particularly useful 
for analyzing firms with
multiproduct lines. In the 
case of multiproduct firms, 
it is difficult to select the
appropriate benchmark
industry.

Industry Average Ratios (2003) for Selected Lines of Businessa

Total
Line of business Total liabilities Return Return 
(number of Current Quick Sales to Collection assets to net Return on total on net
concerns ratio ratio inventory period to sales worth on sales assets worth 
reporting)b (X) (X) (X) (days) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

Department 4.9 1.4 6.6 1.8 32.0 25.1 2.8 6.8 16.2

stores 2.6 0.6 4.6 6.1 43.8 76.6 1.0 2.3 4.5
(143) 1.6 0.2 3.5 21.2 64.9 176.9 0.1 0.1 0.2

Electronic 2.3 1.5 31.6 27.4 24.6 54.3 3.4 7.3 20.6

computers 1.6 0.9 11.3 40.9 58.9 114.3 0.5 1.3 4.6
(76) 1.2 0.7 6.8 68.5 104.1 238.3 (9.7) (10.4) (20.6)

Grocery 2.6 1.0 29.6 1.1 15.3 48.5 2.2 9.4 24.8

stores 1.6 0.5 19.6 2.9 21.3 105.2 1.0 4.4 10.0
(455) 1.1 0.2 13.9 6.9 31.2 277.3 0.3 1.4 3.5

Motor 2.9 1.1 11.4 16.1 27.8 56.4 4.2 10.3 26.9

vehicles 1.7 0.7 8.3 24.1 37.4 150.8 1.5 4.1 9.6
(42) 1.2 0.5 5.5 40.5 47.3 357.2 0.2 0.8 1.2

aThese values are given for each ratio for each line of business. The center value is the median, and the values immediately above and below it are
the upper and lower quartiles, respectively.
bStandard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes for the lines of business shown are, respectively: SIC #5311, SIC #3571, SIC #5411, SIC #3711.

Source: “Industry Norms and Key Business Ratios,” Copyright © 2003 Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. Reprinted with permission.

TAB LE 2 .5
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Mary’s initial reaction to these data was that the firm had managed its inven-
tory significantly better than the average firm in the industry. The turnover was
nearly 53% faster than the industry average. Upon reflection, however, she real-
ized that a very high inventory turnover could also mean very low levels of inven-
tory. The consequence of low inventory could be excessive stockouts (insufficient
inventory). Discussions with people in the manufacturing and marketing depart-
ments did, in fact, uncover such a problem: Inventories during the year were
extremely low, the result of numerous production delays that hindered the firm’s
ability to meet demand and resulted in lost sales. A ratio that initially appeared to
reflect extremely efficient inventory management was actually the symptom of a
major problem. !

Time-Series Analysis
Time-series analysis evaluates performance over time. Comparison of current to
past performance, using ratios, enables analysts to assess the firm’s progress.
Developing trends can be seen by using multiyear comparisons. Any significant
year-to-year changes may be symptomatic of a major problem.

Combined Analysis
The most informative approach to ratio analysis combines cross-sectional and
time-series analyses. A combined view makes it possible to assess the trend in the
behavior of the ratio in relation to the trend for the industry. Figure 2.1 depicts
this type of approach using the average collection period ratio of Bartlett Com-
pany, over the years 2003–2006. This ratio reflects the average amount of time
(in days) it takes the firm to collect bills, and lower values of this ratio generally
are preferred. The figure quickly discloses that (1) Bartlett’s effectiveness in col-
lecting its receivables is poor in comparison to the industry, and (2) Bartlett’s
trend is toward longer collection periods. Clearly, Bartlett needs to shorten its
collection period.

Cautions About Using Ratio Analysis
Before discussing specific ratios, we should consider the following cautions about
their use:

1. Ratios that reveal large deviations from the norm merely indicate symptoms
of a problem. Additional analysis is typically needed to isolate the causes of
the problem. The fundamental point is this: Ratio analysis directs attention
to potential areas of concern; it does not provide conclusive evidence as to
the existence of a problem.

2. A single ratio does not generally provide sufficient information from which
to judge the overall performance of the firm. Only when a group of ratios is
used can reasonable judgments be made. However, if an analysis is concerned
only with certain specific aspects of a firm’s financial position, one or two
ratios may suffice.

3. The ratios being compared should be calculated using financial statements
dated at the same point in time during the year. If they are not, the effects of
seasonality may produce erroneous conclusions and decisions. For example,
comparison of the inventory turnover of a toy manufacturer at the end of
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time-series analysis
Evaluation of the firm’s
financial performance over
time using financial ratio
analysis.
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June with its end-of-December value can be misleading. Clearly, the seasonal
impact of the December holiday selling season would skew any comparison
of the firm’s inventory management.

4. It is preferable to use audited financial statements for ratio analysis. If the
statements have not been audited, the data contained in them may not reflect
the firm’s true financial condition.

5. The financial data being compared should have been developed in the same
way. The use of differing accounting treatments—especially relative to inven-
tory and depreciation—can distort the results of ratio comparisons, regard-
less of whether cross-sectional or time-series analysis is used.

6. Results can be distorted by inflation, which can cause the book values of
inventory and depreciable assets to differ greatly from their true (replace-
ment) values. Additionally, inventory costs and depreciation write-offs can
differ from their true values, thereby distorting profits. Without adjustment,
inflation tends to cause older firms (older assets) to appear more efficient and
profitable than newer firms (newer assets). Clearly, in using ratios, care must
be taken when comparing older to newer firms or a firm to itself over a long
period of time.

Categories of Financial Ratios
Financial ratios can be divided for convenience into five basic categories: liq-
uidity, activity, debt, profitability, and market ratios. Liquidity, activity, and debt
ratios primarily measure risk. Profitability ratios measure return. Market ratios
capture both risk and return.

As a rule, the inputs necessary for an effective financial analysis include, at a
minimum, the income statement and the balance sheet. We will use the 2006 and
2005 income statements and balance sheets for Bartlett Company, presented ear-
lier in Tables 2.1 and 2.2, to demonstrate ratio calculations. Note, however, that
the ratios presented in the remainder of this chapter can be applied to almost any
company. Of course, many companies in different industries use ratios that focus
on aspects peculiar to their industry.
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Combined Analysis
Combined cross-sectional
and time-series view 
of Bartlett Company’s
average collection period,
2003–2006
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Review Questions
2–4 With regard to financial ratio analysis, how do the viewpoints held by the

firm’s present and prospective shareholders, creditors, and management
differ?

2–5 What is the difference between cross-sectional and time-series ratio analy-
sis? What is benchmarking?

2–6 What types of deviations from the norm should the analyst pay primary
attention to when performing cross-sectional ratio analysis? Why?

2–7 Why is it preferable to compare ratios calculated using financial state-
ments that are dated at the same point in time during the year?

Liquidity Ratios
The liquidity of a firm is measured by its ability to satisfy its short-term obliga-
tions as they come due. Liquidity refers to the solvency of the firm’s overall finan-
cial position—the ease with which it can pay its bills. Because a common precursor
to financial distress and bankruptcy is low or declining liquidity, these ratios can
provide early signs of cash flow problems and impending business failure. The two
basic measures of liquidity are the current ratio and the quick (acid-test) ratio.

Current Ratio
The current ratio, one of the most commonly cited financial ratios, measures the
firm’s ability to meet its short-term obligations. It is expressed as follows:

The current ratio for Bartlett Company in 2006 is

Generally, the higher the current ratio, the more liquid the firm is considered
to be. A current ratio of 2.0 is occasionally cited as acceptable, but a value’s
acceptability depends on the industry in which the firm operates. For example, a
current ratio of 1.0 would be considered acceptable for a public utility but might
be unacceptable for a manufacturing firm. The more predictable a firm’s cash
flows, the lower the acceptable current ratio. Because Bartlett Company is in a
business with a relatively predictable annual cash flow, its current ratio of 1.97
should be quite acceptable.

Quick (Acid-Test) Ratio
The quick (acid-test) ratio is similar to the current ratio except that it excludes
inventory, which is generally the least liquid current asset. The generally low liquid-
ity of inventory results from two primary factors: (1) many types of inventory

$1,223,000
$620,000

5 1.97

Current ratio 5
Current assets

Current liabilities
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liquidity
A firm’s ability to satisfy its
short-term obligations as they
come due.

current ratio
A measure of liquidity
calculated by dividing the
firm’s current assets by its
current liabilities.

quick (acid-test) ratio
A measure of liquidity
calculated by dividing the
firm’s current assets minus
inventory by its current
liabilities.
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cannot be easily sold because they are partially completed items, special-purpose
items, and the like; and (2) inventory is typically sold on credit, which means that
it becomes an account receivable before being converted into cash. The quick
ratio is calculated as follows:6

The quick ratio for Bartlett Company in 2006 is

A quick ratio of 1.0 or greater is occasionally recommended, but as with the
current ratio, what value is acceptable depends largely on the industry. The quick
ratio provides a better measure of overall liquidity only when a firm’s inventory
cannot be easily converted into cash. If inventory is liquid, the current ratio is a
preferred measure of overall liquidity.

Review Question
2–8 Under what circumstances would the current ratio be the preferred

measure of overall firm liquidity? Under what circumstances would the
quick ratio be preferred?

Activity Ratios
Activity ratios measure the speed with which various accounts are converted into
sales or cash—inflows or outflows. With regard to current accounts, measures of
liquidity are generally inadequate because differences in the composition of a
firm’s current assets and current liabilities can significantly affect its “true”
liquidity. It is therefore important to look beyond measures of overall liquidity
and to assess the activity (liquidity) of specific current accounts. A number of
ratios are available for measuring the activity of the most important current
accounts, which include inventory, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.7
The efficiency with which total assets are used can also be assessed.

LG3

$1,223,000 2 $289,000
$620,000

5
$934,000
$620,000

5 1.51

Quick ratio 5
Current assets 2 Inventory

Current liabilities
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6. Sometimes the quick ratio is defined as (cash $marketable securities $accounts receivable) "current liabilities. 
If a firm were to show as current assets items other than cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable, and inven-
tories, its quick ratio might vary, depending on the method of calculation.

7. For convenience, the activity ratios involving these current accounts assume that their end-of-period values are
good approximations of the average account balance during the period—typically 1 year. Technically, when the
month-end balances of inventory, accounts receivable, or accounts payable vary during the year, the average bal-
ance, calculated by summing the 12 month-end account balances and dividing the total by 12, should be used
instead of the year-end value. If month-end balances are unavailable, the average can be approximated by dividing
the sum of the beginning-of-year and end-of-year balances by 2. These approaches ensure a ratio that on the average
better reflects the firm’s circumstances. Because the data needed to find averages are generally unavailable to the
external analyst, year-end values are frequently used to calculate activity ratios for current accounts.

activity ratios
Measure the speed with
which various accounts are
converted into sales or 
cash—inflows or outflows.
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Inventory Turnover
Inventory turnover commonly measures the activity, or liquidity, of a firm’s
inventory. It is calculated as follows:

Applying this relationship to Bartlett Company in 2006 yields

The resulting turnover is meaningful only when it is compared with that of other
firms in the same industry or to the firm’s past inventory turnover. An inventory
turnover of 20.0 would not be unusual for a grocery store, whereas a common
inventory turnover for an aircraft manufacturer is 4.0.

Inventory turnover can be easily converted into an average age of inventory
by dividing it into 365—the assumed number of days in a year.8 For Bartlett
Company, the average age of inventory in 2006 is 50.7 days (365 " 7.2). This
value can also be viewed as the average number of days’ sales in inventory.

Average Collection Period
The average collection period, or average age of accounts receivable, is useful in
evaluating credit and collection policies.9 It is arrived at by dividing the average
daily sales10 into the accounts receivable balance:

The average collection period for Bartlett Company in 2006 is

On the average, it takes the firm 59.7 days to collect an account receivable.
The average collection period is meaningful only in relation to the firm’s

credit terms. If Bartlett Company extends 30-day credit terms to customers, an
average collection period of 59.7 days may indicate a poorly managed credit or
collection department, or both. It is also possible that the lengthened collection

$503,000
$3,074,000

365

5
$503,000
$8,422

5 59.7 days

 5
Accounts receivable

Annual sales
365

 Average collection period 5
Accounts receivable

Average sales per day

Inventory turnover 5
$2,088,000
$289,000

5 7.2

Inventory turnover 5
Cost of goods sold

Inventory
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8. Unless otherwise specified, a 365-day year is used throughout this textbook. This assumption makes the calcula-
tions more realistic than would use of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.

9. The average collection period is sometimes called the days’ sales outstanding (DSO). A discussion of the evalua-
tion and establishment of credit and collection policies is presented in Chapter 13.

10. The formula as presented assumes, for simplicity, that all sales are made on a credit basis. If this is not the case,
average credit sales per day should be substituted for average sales per day.

average age of inventory
Average number of days’ 
sales in inventory.

average collection period
The average amount of time
needed to collect accounts
receivable.

inventory turnover
Measures the activity, or
liquidity, of a firm’s inventory.

Principles of Managerial Finance, Brief Fourth Edition, by Lawrence J. Gitman. Published by Addison Wesley, a Pearson Education Company. Copyright © 2006 by Lawrence

IS
B

N
:0-536-36300-5

J. Gitman.



period resulted from an intentional relaxation of credit-term enforcement in
response to competitive pressures. If the firm had extended 60-day credit terms,
the 59.7-day average collection period would be quite acceptable. Clearly, addi-
tional information is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of the firm’s credit and
collection policies.

Average Payment Period
The average payment period, or average age of accounts payable, is calculated in
the same manner as the average collection period:

The difficulty in calculating this ratio stems from the need to find annual pur-
chases,11 a value not available in published financial statements. Ordinarily, pur-
chases are estimated as a given percentage of cost of goods sold. If we assume
that Bartlett Company’s purchases equaled 70 percent of its cost of goods sold in
2006, its average payment period is

This figure is meaningful only in relation to the average credit terms extended to
the firm. If Bartlett Company’s suppliers have extended, on average, 30-day
credit terms, an analyst would give Bartlett a low credit rating. Prospective
lenders and suppliers of trade credit are most interested in the average payment
period because it provides insight into the firm’s bill-paying patterns.

Total Asset Turnover
The total asset turnover indicates the efficiency with which the firm uses its assets
to generate sales. Total asset turnover is calculated as follows:

The value of Bartlett Company’s total asset turnover in 2006 is

This means the company turns over its assets 0.85 times per year.

$3,074,000
$3,597,000

5 0.85

Total asset turnover 5
Sales

Total assets

$382,000
0.70 3 $2,088,000

365

5
$382,000
$4,004

5 95.4 days

 5
Accounts payable
Annual purchases

365

 Average payment period 5
Accounts payable

Average purchases per day
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11. Technically, annual credit purchases—rather than annual purchases—should be used in calculating this ratio.
For simplicity, this refinement is ignored here.

average payment period
The average amount of time
needed to pay accounts
payable.

total asset turnover
Indicates the efficiency with
which the firm uses its assets
to generate sales.

Hint The higher the cost 
of the new assets, the larger 
the denominator and thus the
smaller the ratio. Therefore,
because of inflation and the 
use of historical costs, firms
with newer assets will tend 
to have lower turnovers than
those with older assets.
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Generally, the higher a firm’s total asset turnover, the more efficiently its assets
have been used. This measure is probably of greatest interest to management,
because it indicates whether the firm’s operations have been financially efficient.

Review Question
2–9 To assess the firm’s average collection period and average payment period

ratios, what additional information is needed, and why?

Debt Ratios
The debt position of a firm indicates the amount of other people’s money being
used to generate profits. In general, the financial analyst is most concerned with
long-term debts, because these commit the firm to a stream of contractual pay-
ments over the long run. The more debt a firm has, the greater its risk of being
unable to meet its contractual debt payments and becoming bankrupt. Because
creditors’ claims must be satisfied before the earnings can be distributed to share-
holders, current and prospective shareholders pay close attention to the firm’s
ability to repay debts. Lenders are also concerned about the firm’s indebtedness.
Management obviously must be concerned with indebtedness.

In general, the more debt a firm uses in relation to its total assets, the greater
its financial leverage. Financial leverage is the magnification of risk and return
introduced through the use of fixed-cost financing, such as debt and preferred
stock. The more fixed-cost debt a firm uses, the greater will be its expected risk
and return.

Patty Akers is in the process of incorporating her new business. After much
analysis she determined that an initial investment of $50,000—$20,000 in cur-
rent assets and $30,000 in fixed assets—is necessary. These funds can be obtained
in either of two ways. The first is the no-debt plan, under which she would invest
the full $50,000 without borrowing. The other alternative, the debt plan, involves
investing $25,000 and borrowing the balance of $25,000 at 12% annual interest.

Regardless of which alternative she chooses, Patty expects sales to average
$30,000, costs and operating expenses to average $18,000, and earnings to be
taxed at a 40% rate. Projected balance sheets and income statements associated
with the two plans are summarized in Table 2.6. The no-debt plan results in after-
tax profits of $7,200, which represent a 14.4% rate of return on Patty’s $50,000
investment. The debt plan results in $5,400 of after-tax profits, which represent a
21.6% rate of return on Patty’s investment of $25,000. The debt plan provides
Patty with a higher rate of return, but the risk of this plan is also greater, because
the annual $3,000 of interest must be paid before receipt of earnings. !

The example demonstrates that with increased debt comes greater risk as
well as higher potential return. Therefore, the greater the financial leverage, the
greater the potential risk and return. A detailed discussion of the impact of debt
on the firm’s risk, return, and value is included in Chapter 11. Here, we empha-
size the use of financial debt ratios to assess externally a firm’s debt position.

E X A M P L E
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financial leverage
The magnification of risk and
return introduced through 
the use of fixed-cost financing,
such as debt and preferred
stock.
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There are two general types of debt measures: measures of the degree of
indebtedness and measures of the ability to service debts. The degree of indebted-
ness measures the amount of debt relative to other significant balance sheet
amounts. A popular measure of the degree of indebtedness is the debt ratio.

The second type of debt measure, the ability to service debts, reflects a firm’s
ability to make the payments required on a scheduled basis over the life of a
debt.12 The firm’s ability to pay certain fixed charges is measured using coverage
ratios. Typically, higher coverage ratios are preferred, but too high a ratio (above
industry norms) may result in unnecessarily low risk and return. In general, the
lower the firm’s coverage ratios, the less certain it is to be able to pay fixed obli-
gations. If a firm is unable to pay these obligations, its creditors may seek imme-
diate repayment, which in most instances would force a firm into bankruptcy.
Two popular coverage ratios are the times interest earned ratio and the fixed-
payment coverage ratio.

Debt Ratio
The debt ratio measures the proportion of total assets financed by the firm’s cred-
itors. The higher this ratio, the greater the amount of other people’s money being
used to generate profits. The ratio is calculated as follows:

Debt ratio 5
Total liabilities

Total assets
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12. The term service refers to the payment of interest and repayment of principal associated with a firm’s debt obli-
gations. When a firm services its debts, it pays—or fulfills—these obligations.

degree of indebtedness
Measures the amount of debt
relative to other significant
balance sheet amounts.

ability to service debts
The ability of a firm to make
the payments required on a
scheduled basis over the life
of a debt.

coverage ratios
Ratios that measure the firm’s
ability to pay certain fixed
charges.

Financial Statements Associated with Patty’s Alternatives

No-debt plan Debt plan

Balance Sheets

Current assets $20,000 $20,000

Fixed assets

Total assets

Debt (12% interest) $ 0 $25,000

(1) Equity

Total liabilities and equity

Income Statements

Sales $30,000 $30,000

Less: Costs and operating 
expenses

Operating profits

Less: Interest expense 0.12#$25,000!

Net profits before taxes $12,000 $ 9,000

Less: Taxes (rate ! 40%)

(2) Net profits after taxes

Return on equity [(2)" (1)]
$5,400

$25,000
5 21.6%

$7,200
$50,000

5 14.4%

$ 5,400$ 7,200
3,6004,800

3,0000

$12,000$12,000

18,00018,000

$50,000$50,000

25,00050,000

$50,000$50,000

30,00030,000

TAB LE 2 .6

debt ratio
Measures the proportion of
total assets financed by the
firm’s creditors.
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The debt ratio for Bartlett Company in 2006 is

This value indicates that the company has financed close to half of its assets with
debt. The higher this ratio, the greater the firm’s degree of indebtedness and the
more financial leverage it has.

Times Interest Earned Ratio
The times interest earned ratio, sometimes called the interest coverage ratio,
measures the firm’s ability to make contractual interest payments. The higher its
value, the better able the firm is to fulfill its interest obligations. The times
interest earned ratio is calculated as follows:

The figure for earnings before interest and taxes is the same as that for operating
profits shown in the income statement. Applying this ratio to Bartlett Company
yields the following 2006 value:

The times interest earned ratio for Bartlett Company seems acceptable. A value of
at least 3.0—and preferably closer to 5.0—is often suggested. The firm’s earnings
before interest and taxes could shrink by as much as 78 percent [(4.5 % 1.0) "
4.5], and the firm would still be able to pay the $93,000 in interest it owes. Thus
it has a good margin of safety.

Fixed-Payment Coverage Ratio
The fixed-payment coverage ratio measures the firm’s ability to meet all fixed-
payment obligations, such as loan interest and principal, lease payments, and pre-
ferred stock dividends.13 As is true of the times interest earned ratio, the higher
this value, the better. The formula for the fixed-payment coverage ratio is

where T is the corporate tax rate applicable to the firm’s income. The term 1/(1%T)
is included to adjust the after-tax principal and preferred stock dividend pay-

Fixed-
payment
coverage
ratio

5
Earnings before interest and taxes1 Lease payments

Interest1 Lease payments
15(Principal payments 1 Preferred stock dividends)3 31>(1 2 T )4 6

Times interest earned ratio 5
$418,000
$93,000

5 4.5

Times interest earned ratio 5
Earnings before interest and taxes

Interest

$1,643,000
$3,597,000

5 0.457 5 45.7%
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times interest earned ratio
Measures the firm’s ability 
to make contractual interest
payments; sometimes called
the interest coverage ratio.

13. Although preferred stock dividends, which are stated at the time of issue, can be “passed” (not paid) at the
option of the firm’s directors, it is generally believed that the payment of such dividends is necessary. This text there-
fore treats the preferred stock dividend as a contractual obligation, to be paid as a fixed amount, as scheduled.

fixed-payment coverage
ratio
Measures the firm’s ability 
to meet all fixed-payment
obligations.
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ments back to a before-tax equivalent that is consistent with the before-tax values
of all other terms. Applying the formula to Bartlett Company’s 2006 data yields

Because the earnings available are nearly twice as large as its fixed-payment obli-
gations, the firm appears safely able to meet the latter.

Like the times interest earned ratio, the fixed-payment coverage ratio meas-
ures risk. The lower the ratio, the greater the risk to both lenders and owners; the
greater the ratio, the lower the risk. This ratio allows interested parties to assess
the firm’s ability to meet additional fixed-payment obligations without being
driven into bankruptcy.

Review Questions
2–10 What is financial leverage?
2–11 What ratio measures the firm’s degree of indebtedness? What ratios assess

the firm’s ability to service debts?

Profitability Ratios
There are many measures of profitability. As a group, these measures enable the
analyst to evaluate the firm’s profits with respect to a given level of sales, a certain
level of assets, or the owners’ investment. Without profits, a firm could not
attract outside capital. Owners, creditors, and management pay close attention 
to boosting profits because of the great importance placed on earnings in the
marketplace.

Common-Size Income Statements
A popular tool for evaluating profitability in relation to sales is the common-size
income statement. Each item on this statement is expressed as a percentage of
sales. Common-size income statements are especially useful in comparing per-
formance across years. Three frequently cited ratios of profitability that can be
read directly from the common-size income statement are (1) the gross profit
margin, (2) the operating profit margin, and (3) the net profit margin.

Common-size income statements for 2006 and 2005 for Bartlett Company
are presented and evaluated in Table 2.7 (see page 60).These statements reveal
that the firm’s cost of goods sold increased from 66.7 percent of sales in 2005 to
67.9 percent in 2006, resulting in a worsening gross profit margin. However,
thanks to a decrease in total operating expenses, the firm’s net profit margin rose
from 5.4 percent of sales in 2005 to 7.2 percent in 2006. The decrease in expenses

LG5

 5
$453,000
$242,000

5 1.9

 
Fixed-payment
coverage ratio

5
$418,000 1 $35,000

$93,0001$35,0001 5($71,0001$10,000)3 31>(120.29) 46
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common-size income
statement
An income statement in
which each item is expressed
as a percentage of sales.
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more than compensated for the increase in the cost of goods sold. A decrease in
the firm’s 2006 interest expense (3.0 percent of sales versus 3.5 percent in 2005)
added to the increase in 2006 profits.

Gross Profit Margin
The gross profit margin measures the percentage of each sales dollar remaining
after the firm has paid for its goods. The higher the gross profit margin, the better
(that is, the lower the relative cost of merchandise sold). The gross profit margin
is calculated as follows:

Bartlett Company’s gross profit margin for 2006 is

This value is labeled (1) on the common-size income statement in Table 2.7.

$3,074,000 2 $2,088,000
$3,074,000

5
$986,000

$3,074,000
5 32.1%

Gross profit margin 5
Sales 2 Cost of goods sold

Sales
5

Gross profits
Sales
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Bartlett Company Common-Size Income Statements

For the years ended
December 31 Evaluationa

2006 2005 2005–2006

Sales revenue 100.0% 100.0% same

Less: Cost of goods sold worse

(1) Gross profit margin % % worse

Less: Operating expenses

Selling expense 3.3% 4.2% better

General and administrative expenses 6.8 6.7 better

Lease expense 1.1 1.3 better

Depreciation expense better

Total operating expense % % better

(2) Operating profit margin 13.6% 11.8% better

Less: Interest expense better

Net profits before taxes 10.6% 8.3% better

Less: Taxes worseb

Net profits after taxes 7.5% 5.8% better

Less: Preferred stock dividends better

(3) Net profit margin % % better

aSubjective assessments based on data provided.
bTaxes as a percentage of sales increased noticeably between 2005 and 2006 because of differing costs 
and expenses, whereas the average tax rates (taxes"net profits before taxes) for 2005 and 2006 remained
about the same—30% and 29%, respectively.

5.47.2

0.40.3

2.53.1

3.53.0

21.518.5

9.37.3

33.332.1

66.767.9

TAB LE 2 .7

gross profit margin
Measures the percentage of
each sales dollar remaining
after the firm has paid for 
its goods.

Hint This is a very
significant ratio for small
retailers, especially during times
of inflationary prices. If the
owner of the firm does not raise
prices when the cost of sales is
rising, the gross profit margin
will erode.
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Operating Profit Margin
The operating profit margin measures the percentage of each sales dollar remain-
ing after all costs and expenses other than interest, taxes, and preferred stock divi-
dends are deducted. It represents the “pure profits” earned on each sales dollar.
Operating profits are “pure” because they measure only the profits earned on oper-
ations and ignore interest, taxes, and preferred stock dividends. A high operating
profit margin is preferred. The operating profit margin is calculated as follows:

Bartlett Company’s operating profit margin for 2006 is

This value is labeled (2) on the common-size income statement in Table 2.7.

Net Profit Margin
The net profit margin measures the percentage of each sales dollar remaining
after all costs and expenses, including interest, taxes, and preferred stock divi-
dends, have been deducted. The higher the firm’s net profit margin, the better.
The net profit margin is calculated as follows:

Bartlett Company’s net profit margin for 2006 is

This value is labeled (3) on the common-size income statement in Table 2.7.
The net profit margin is a commonly cited measure of the firm’s success with

respect to earnings on sales. “Good” net profit margins differ considerably across
industries. A net profit margin of 1 percent or less would not be unusual for a
grocery store, whereas a net profit margin of 10 percent would be low for a retail
jewelry store.

Earnings per Share (EPS)
The firm’s earnings per share (EPS) is generally of interest to present or prospec-
tive stockholders and management. As we noted earlier, EPS represents the
number of dollars earned during the period on behalf of each outstanding share
of common stock. Earnings per share is calculated as follows:

Earnings per share 5
Earnings available for common stockholders

Number of shares of common stock outstanding

$221,000
$3,074,000

5 7.2%

Net profit margin 5
Earnings available for common stockholders

Sales

$418,000
$3,074,000

5 13.6%

Operating profit margin 5
Operating profits

Sales
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operating profit margin
Measures the percentage of
each sales dollar remaining
after all costs and expenses
other than interest, taxes, and
preferred stock dividends are
deducted; the “pure profits”
earned on each sales dollar.

net profit margin
Measures the percentage of
each sales dollar remaining
after all costs and expenses,
including interest, taxes, and
preferred stock dividends,
have been deducted.

Hint The net profit margin
is sometimes defined as net
profits after taxes divided by
sales. The formula used here
places greater emphasis on the
common stockholders.

Hint EPS represents the
dollar amount earned on 
behalf of each outstanding
share of common stock—not
the amount of earnings actually
distributed to shareholders.
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Bartlett Company’s earnings per share in 2006 is

This figure represents the dollar amount earned on behalf of each outstanding
share of common stock. The dollar amount of cash actually distributed to each
shareholder is the dividend per share (DPS), which, as noted in Bartlett Com-
pany’s income statement (Table 2.1), rose to $1.29 in 2006 from $0.75 in 2005.
EPS is closely watched by the investing public and is considered an important
indicator of corporate success.

Return on Total Assets (ROA)
The return on total assets (ROA), often called the return on investment (ROI),
measures the overall effectiveness of management in generating profits with its
available assets. The higher the firm’s return on total assets, the better. The return
on total assets is calculated as follows:

Bartlett Company’s return on total assets in 2006 is

This value indicates that the company earned 6.1 cents on each dollar of asset
investment.

Return on Common Equity (ROE)
The return on common equity (ROE) measures the return earned on the common
stockholders’ investment in the firm. Generally, the higher this return, the better
off are the owners. Return on common equity is calculated as follows:

This ratio for Bartlett Company in 2006 is

Note that the value for common stock equity ($1,754,000) was found by sub-
tracting the $200,000 of preferred stock equity from the total stockholders’
equity of $1,954,000 (see Bartlett Company’s 2006 balance sheet in Table 2.2).
The calculated ROE of 12.6 percent indicates that during 2006 Bartlett earned
12.6 cents on each dollar of common stock equity.

$221,000
$1,754,000

5 12.6%

Return on common equity 5
Earnings available for common stockholders

Common stock equity

$221,000
$3,597,000

5 6.1%

Return on total assets 5
Earnings available for common stockholders

Total assets

$221,000
76,262

5 $2.90
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return on total assets (ROA)
Measures the overall
effectiveness of management
in generating profits with its
available assets; also called
the return on investment
(ROI).

Hint Some firms use this
measure as a simple decision
technique for evaluating
proposed fixed-asset
investments.

return on common equity
(ROE)
Measures the return earned
on the common stockholders’
investment in the firm.
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Review Questions
2–12 What three ratios of profitability are found on a common-size income

statement?
2–13 What would explain a firm’s having a high gross profit margin and a low

net profit margin?
2–14 Which measure of profitability is probably of greatest interest to the

investing public? Why?

Market Ratios
Market ratios relate the firm’s market value, as measured by its current share
price, to certain accounting values. These ratios give insight into how well
investors in the marketplace feel the firm is doing in terms of risk and return.
They tend to reflect, on a relative basis, the common stockholders’ assessment of
all aspects of the firm’s past and expected future performance. Here we consider
two popular market ratios, one that focuses on earnings and another that con-
siders book value.

Price/Earnings (P/E) Ratio
The price/earnings (P/E) ratio is commonly used to assess the owners’ appraisal of
share value. The P/E ratio measures the amount that investors are willing to pay
for each dollar of a firm’s earnings. The level of this ratio indicates the degree of
confidence that investors have in the firm’s future performance. The higher the P/E
ratio, the greater the investor confidence. The P/E ratio is calculated as follows:

If Bartlett Company’s common stock at the end of 2006 was selling at $32.25,
using the EPS of $2.90, the P/E ratio at year-end 2006 is

This figure indicates that investors were paying $11.10 for each $1.00 of earn-
ings. The P/E ratio is most informative when applied in cross-sectional analysis
using an industry average P/E ratio or the P/E ratio of a benchmark firm.

Market/Book (M/B) Ratio
The market/book (M/B) ratio provides an assessment of how investors view the
firm’s performance. It relates the market value of the firm’s shares to their book—
strict accounting—value. To calculate the firm’s M/B ratio, we first need to find
the book value per share of common stock:

Book value per share
of common stock

 5
Common stock equity

Number of shares of common stock outstanding

$32.25
$2.90

5 11.1

Price>earnings (P>E) ratio 5
Market price per share of common stock

Earnings per share

LG5
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market ratios
Relate a firm’s market value,
as measured by its current
share price, to certain
accounting values.

price/earnings (P/E) ratio
Measures the amount that
investors are willing to pay 
for each dollar of a firm’s
earnings; the higher the P/E
ratio, the greater the investor
confidence.

market/book (M/B) ratio
Provides an assessment of
how investors view the firm’s
performance. Firms expected
to earn high returns relative 
to their risk typically sell at
higher M/B multiples.
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Substituting the appropriate values for Bartlett Company from its 2006 balance
sheet, we get

The formula for the market/book ratio is

Substituting Bartlett Company’s end of 2006 common stock price of $32.25 and
its $23.00 book value per share of common stock (calculated above) into the M/B
ratio formula, we get

This M/B ratio means that investors are currently paying $1.40 for each $1.00 of
book value of Bartlett Company’s stock.

The stocks of firms that are expected to perform well—improve profits,
increase their market share, or launch successful products—typically sell at higher
M/B ratios than the stocks of firms with less attractive outlooks. Simply stated,
firms expected to earn high returns relative to their risk typically sell at higher
M/B multiples. Clearly, Bartlett’s future prospects are being viewed favorably by
investors, who are willing to pay more than its book value for the firm’s shares.
Like P/E ratios, M/B ratios are typically assessed cross-sectionally, to get a feel for
the firm’s risk and return compared to peer firms.

Review Question
2–15 How do the price/earnings (P/E) ratio and the market/book (M/B) ratio

provide a feel for the firm’s risk and return?

A Complete Ratio Analysis
Analysts frequently wish to take an overall look at the firm’s financial perform-
ance and status. Here we consider two popular approaches to a complete ratio
analysis: (1) summarizing all ratios and (2) the DuPont system of analysis. The
summary analysis approach tends to view all aspects of the firm’s financial activi-
ties to isolate key areas of responsibility. The DuPont system acts as a search tech-
nique aimed at finding the key areas responsible for the firm’s financial condition.

Summarizing All Ratios
We can use Bartlett Company’s ratios to perform a complete ratio analysis using
both cross-sectional and time-series analysis approaches. The 2006 ratio values
calculated earlier and the ratio values calculated for 2004 and 2005 for Bartlett

LG6

Market>book (M>B) ratio 5
$32.25
$23.00

5 1.40

Market>book (M>B) ratio 5
Market price per share of common stock
Book value per share of common stock

Book value per share
of common stock

 5
$1,754,000

76,262
5 $23.00
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Company, along with the industry average ratios for 2006, are summarized in
Table 2.8 (see pages 66 and 67), which also shows the formula used to calculate
each ratio. Using these data, we can discuss the five key aspects of Bartlett’s per-
formance—liquidity, activity, debt, profitability, and market.

Liquidity
The overall liquidity of the firm seems to exhibit a reasonably stable trend,
having been maintained at a level that is relatively consistent with the industry
average in 2006. The firm’s liquidity seems to be good.

Activity
Bartlett Company’s inventory appears to be in good shape. Its inventory manage-
ment seems to have improved, and in 2006 it performed at a level above that of
the industry. The firm may be experiencing some problems with accounts receiv-
able. The average collection period seems to have crept up above that of the
industry. Bartlett also appears to be slow in paying its bills; it pays nearly 30 days
slower than the industry average. This could adversely affect the firm’s credit
standing. Although overall liquidity appears to be good, the management of
receivables and payables should be examined. Bartlett’s total asset turnover
reflects a decline in the efficiency of total asset utilization between 2004 and
2005. Although in 2006 it rose to a level considerably above the industry average,
it appears that the pre-2005 level of efficiency has not yet been achieved.

Debt
Bartlett Company’s indebtedness increased over the 2004–2006 period and is
currently above the industry average. Although this increase in the debt ratio
could be cause for alarm, the firm’s ability to meet interest and fixed-payment
obligations improved, from 2005 to 2006, to a level that outperforms the
industry. The firm’s increased indebtedness in 2005 apparently caused a deterio-
ration in its ability to pay debt adequately. However, Bartlett has evidently
improved its income in 2006 so that it is able to meet its interest and fixed-pay-
ment obligations at a level consistent with the average in the industry. In sum-
mary, it appears that although 2005 was an off year, the company’s improved
ability to pay debts in 2006 compensates for its increased degree of indebtedness.

Profitability
Bartlett’s profitability relative to sales in 2006 was better than the average com-
pany in the industry, although it did not match the firm’s 2004 performance.
Although the gross profit margin was better in 2005 and 2006 than in 2004,
higher levels of operating and interest expenses in 2005 and 2006 appear to have
caused the 2006 net profit margin to fall below that of 2004. However, Bartlett
Company’s 2006 net profit margin is quite favorable when compared to the
industry average.

The firm’s earnings per share, return on total assets, and return on common
equity behaved much as its net profit margin did over the 2004–2006 period.
Bartlett appears to have experienced either a sizable drop in sales between 2004
and 2005 or a rapid expansion in assets during that period. The exceptionally
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high 2006 level of return on common equity suggests that the firm is performing
quite well. The firm’s above-average returns—net profit margin, EPS, ROA, and
ROE—may be attributable to the fact that it is more risky than average. A look
at market ratios is helpful in assessing risk.

Market
Investors have greater confidence in the firm in 2006 than in the prior two years,
as reflected in the price/earnings (P/E) ratio of 11.1. However, this ratio is below
the industry average. The P/E ratio suggests that the firm’s risk has declined but
remains above that of the average firm in its industry. The firm’s market/book
(M/B) ratio has increased over the 2004–2006 period, and in 2006 it exceeds the
industry average. This implies that investors are optimistic about the firm’s future
performance. The P/E and M/B ratios reflect the firm’s increased profitability
over the 2004–2006 period: Investors expect to earn high future returns as com-
pensation for the firm’s above-average risk.

In summary, the firm appears to be growing and has recently undergone an
expansion in assets, financed primarily through the use of debt. The 2005–2006
period seems to reflect a phase of adjustment and recovery from the rapid growth
in assets. Bartlett’s sales, profits, and other performance factors seem to be
growing with the increase in the size of the operation. In addition, the market
response to these accomplishments appears to have been positive. In short, the
firm seems to have done well in 2006.

DuPont System of Analysis
The DuPont system of analysis is used to dissect the firm’s financial statements
and to assess its financial condition. It merges the income statement and balance
sheet into two summary measures of profitability: return on total assets (ROA)
and return on common equity (ROE). Figure 2.2 depicts the basic DuPont system
with Bartlett Company’s 2006 monetary and ratio values. The upper portion of
the chart summarizes the income statement activities; the lower portion summa-
rizes the balance sheet activities.

Dupont Formula
The DuPont system first brings together the net profit margin, which measures
the firm’s profitability on sales, with its total asset turnover, which indicates how
efficiently the firm has used its assets to generate sales. In the DuPont formula,
the product of these two ratios results in the return on total assets (ROA):

Substituting the appropriate formulas into the equation and simplifying results in
the formula given earlier,

ROA 5

Earnings available for
common stockholders

 

Sales
3

Sales
Total assets

5

 
Earnings available for
common stockholders

Total assets

ROA 5 Net profit margin 3 Total asset turnover
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DuPont system of analysis
System used to dissect the
firm’s financial statements
and to assess its financial
condition.

DuPont formula
Multiplies the firm’s net profit
margin by its total asset
turnover to calculate the firm’s
return on total assets (ROA).
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Sales
$3,074,000

minus

Cost of
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$2,088,000
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divided by

Operating
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t

minus

Interest
Expense
$93,000

minus

Taxes
$94,000

minus

Preferred Stock
Dividends
$10,000

Earnings
Available

for Common
Stockholders
$221,000 Net Profit

Margin
7.2%

Sales
$3,074,000

divided by

multiplied
by

multiplied
by

Sales
$3,074,000

Total Asset
Turnover

0.85

Common Stock
Equity

$1,754,000

Total Assets
$3,597,000

Return on
Common

Equity (ROE)
12.6%

plus
divided by

Total
Liabilities

$1,643,000 Financial
Leverage

Multiplier (FLM)
2.06

Return on
Total Assets

(ROA)
6.1%

Total Liabilities
and Stockholders’

Equity = Total
Assets

$3,597,000

Stockholders’
Equity

$1,954,000

Current
Assets

$1,223,000

plus

Net Fixed
Assets

$2,374,000

Current
Liabilities
$620,000

plus

Long-Term
Debt

$1,023,000
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e
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ee

t
F IGURE 2 .2 Dupont System of Analysis

The DuPont system of analysis with application to Bartlett Company (2006)
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When the 2006 values of the net profit margin and total asset turnover for
Bartlett Company, calculated earlier, are substituted into the DuPont formula, the
result is

This value is the same as that calculated directly in an earlier section (page 62).
The DuPont formula enables the firm to break down its return into profit-on-
sales and efficiency-of-asset-use components. Typically, a firm with a low net
profit margin has a high total asset turnover, which results in a reasonably good
return on total assets. Often, the opposite situation exists.

Modified Dupont Formula
The second step in the DuPont system employs the modified DuPont formula.
This formula relates the firm’s return on total assets (ROA) to its return on
common equity (ROE). The latter is calculated by multiplying the return on total
assets (ROA) by the financial leverage multiplier (FLM), which is the ratio of
total assets to common stock equity:

ROE!ROA#FLM

Substituting the appropriate formulas into the equation and simplifying results in
the formula given earlier,

Use of the financial leverage multiplier (FLM) to convert the ROA into the
ROE reflects the impact of financial leverage on owners’ return. Substituting the
values for Bartlett Company’s ROA of 6.1 percent, calculated earlier, and
Bartlett’s FLM of 2.06 ($3,597,000 total assets " $1,754,000 common stock
equity) into the modified DuPont formula yields

ROE!6.1%#2.06!12.6%

The 12.6 percent ROE calculated by using the modified DuPont formula is the
same as that calculated directly (page 62).

Applying the Dupont System
The advantage of the DuPont system is that it allows the firm to break its return
on equity into a profit-on-sales component (net profit margin), an efficiency-of-
asset-use component (total asset turnover), and a use-of-financial-leverage com-
ponent (financial leverage multiplier). The total return to owners therefore can be
analyzed in these important dimensions.

The use of the DuPont system of analysis as a diagnostic tool is best explained
using Figure 2.2. Beginning with the rightmost value—the ROE—the financial
analyst moves to the left, dissecting and analyzing the inputs to the formula to iso-
late the probable cause of the resulting above-average (or below-average) value.

5

Earnings available for
common stockholders

 

Common stock equity
ROE5

Earnings available for
common stockholders

 

Total assets
3

Total assets
Common stock equity

ROA 5 7.2% 3 0.85 5 6.1%
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modified DuPont formula
Relates the firm’s return on
total assets (ROA) to its return
on common equity (ROE)
using the financial leverage
multiplier (FLM).

financial leverage multiplier
(FLM)
The ratio of the firm’s total
assets to its common stock
equity.
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For the sake of demonstration, let’s ignore all industry average data in Table 2.8
and assume that Bartlett’s ROE of 12.6 % is actually below the industry average.
Moving to the left in Figure 2.2, we would examine the inputs to the ROE—the
ROA and the FLM—relative to the industry averages. Let’s assume that the FLM
is in line with the industry average, but the ROA is below the industry average.
Moving farther to the left, we examine the two inputs to the ROA—the net profit
margin and total asset turnover. Assume that the net profit margin is in line with
the industry average, but the total asset turnover is below the industry average.
Moving still farther to the left, we find that whereas the firm’s sales are consistent
with the industry value, Bartlett’s total assets have grown significantly during the
past year. Looking farther to the left, we would review the firm’s activity ratios
for current assets. Let’s say that whereas the firm’s inventory turnover is in line
with the industry average, its average collection period is well above the industry
average.

We can readily trace the possible problem back to its cause: Bartlett’s low
ROE is primarily the consequence of slow collections of accounts receivable,
which resulted in high levels of receivables and therefore high levels of total
assets. The high total assets slowed Bartlett’s total asset turnover, driving down its
ROA, which then drove down its ROE. By using the DuPont system of analysis to
dissect Bartlett’s overall returns as measured by its ROE, we found that slow col-
lections of receivables caused the below-industry-average ROE. Clearly, the firm
needs to better manage its credit operations. !

Review Questions
2–16 Financial ratio analysis is often divided into five areas: liquidity, activity,

debt, profitability, and market ratios. Differentiate each of these areas of
analysis from the others. Which is of the greatest concern to creditors?

2–17 Describe how you would use a large number of ratios to perform a com-
plete ratio analysis of the firm.

2–18 What three areas of analysis are combined in the modified DuPont for-
mula? Explain how the DuPont system of analysis is used to dissect the
firm’s results and isolate their causes.

SUMMARY
FOCUS ON VALUE

Financial managers review and analyze the firm’s financial statements periodically, both to
uncover developing problems and to assess the firm’s progress toward achieving its goals.
These actions are aimed at preserving and creating value for the firm’s owners. Financial
ratios enable financial managers to monitor the pulse of the firm and its progress toward 

E X A M P L E
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72 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

REVIEW OF LEARNING GOALS

Review the contents of the stockholders’
report and the procedures for consolidating

international financial statements. The annual
stockholders’ report, which publicly owned corpo-
rations must provide to stockholders, documents
the firm’s financial activities of the past year. It
includes the letter to stockholders and various
subjective and factual information, as well as four
key financial statements: the income statement, the
balance sheet, the statement of stockholders’ equity
(or its abbreviated form, the statement of retained
earnings), and the statement of cash flows. Notes
describing the technical aspects of the financial
statements follow. Financial statements of compa-
nies that have operations whose cash flows are
denominated in one or more foreign currencies
must be translated into dollars in accordance with
FASB Standard No. 52.

Understand who uses financial ratios, and
how. Ratio analysis enables stockholders and

lenders and the firm’s managers to evaluate the
firm’s financial performance. It can be performed
on a cross-sectional or a time-series basis. Bench-
marking is a popular type of cross-sectional
analysis. Key cautions for applying financial ratios
are as follow: (1) Ratios with large deviations from
the norm merely indicate symptoms of a problem.
(2) A single ratio does not generally provide suffi-
cient information. (3) The ratios being compared
should be calculated using financial statements
dated at the same point in time during the year. 
(4) Audited financial statements should be used. 
(5) Data should be checked for consistency of
accounting treatment. (6) Inflation and different
asset ages can distort ratio comparisons.

Use ratios to analyze a firm’s liquidity and
activity. Liquidity, or the ability of the firm to

pay its bills as they come due, can be measured by
the current ratio and the quick (acid-test) ratio.
Activity ratios measure the speed with which

LG3

LG2

LG1 accounts are converted into sales or cash—inflows
or outflows. The activity of inventory can be meas-
ured by its turnover; that of accounts receivable by
the average collection period; and that of accounts
payable by the average payment period. Total asset
turnover measures the efficiency with which the
firm uses its assets to generate sales.

Discuss the relationship between debt and
financial leverage and the ratios used to ana-

lyze a firm’s debt. The more debt a firm uses, the
greater its financial leverage, which magnifies both
risk and return. Financial debt ratios measure both
the degree of indebtedness and the ability to service
debts. A common measure of indebtedness is the
debt ratio. The ability to pay fixed charges can be
measured by times interest earned and fixed-pay-
ment coverage ratios.

Use ratios to analyze a firm’s profitability and
its market value. The common-size income

statement, which shows all items as a percentage of
sales, can be used to determine gross profit margin,
operating profit margin, and net profit margin.
Other measures of profitability include earnings per
share, return on total assets, and return on common
equity. Market ratios include the price/earnings
ratio and the market/book ratio.

Use a summary of financial ratios and the
DuPont system of analysis to perform a com-

plete ratio analysis. A summary of all ratios—liq-
uidity, activity, debt, profitability, and market—can
be used to perform a complete ratio analysis using
cross-sectional and time-series analysis. The DuPont
system of analysis is a diagnostic tool used to find
the key areas responsible for the firm’s financial
performance. It enables the firm to break the return
on common equity into three components: profit on
sales, efficiency of asset use, and use of financial
leverage.

LG6

LG5

LG4

its strategic goals. Although financial statements and financial ratios rely on accrual con-
cepts, they can provide useful insights into important aspects of risk and return (cash flow)
that affect share price, which management is attempting to maximize.
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CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 73

SELF-TEST PROBLEMS (SOLUTIONS IN APPENDIX B)

ST2–1 Ratio formulas and interpretations Without referring to the text, indicate for
each of the following ratios the formula for calculating it and the kinds of
problems, if any, the firm is likely to have if that ratio is too high relative to 
the industry average. What if the ratio is too low relative to the industry
average? Create a table similar to the one that follows and fill in the empty blocks.

LG5LG4LG3

Ratio Too high Too low

Current ratio !

Inventory turnover !

Times interest earned !

Gross profit margin !

Return on total assets !

Price/earnings(P/E)ratio !

ST2–2 Balance sheet completion using ratios Complete the 2006 balance sheet for
O’Keefe Industries using the information that follows it.

The following financial data for 2006 are also available:
(1) Sales totaled $1,800,000.
(2) The gross profit margin was 25%.
(3) Inventory turnover was 6.0.
(4) There are 365 days in the year.
(5) The average collection period was 40 days.
(6) The current ratio was 1.60.
(7) The total asset turnover ratio was 1.20.
(8) The debt ratio was 60%.

LG5LG4LG3

O’Keefe Industries
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2006

Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Cash $32,720 Accounts payable $120,000
Marketable securities 25,000 Notes payable ________
Accounts receivable _______ Accruals
Inventories _______ Total current liabilities ________

Total current assets _______ Long-term debt ________
Net fixed assets _______ Stockholders’ equity
Total assets Total liabilities and

stockholders’ equity $
$

$600,000

20,000
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74 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

WARM-UP EXERCISES

E2–1 You are a summer intern at the office of a local tax-preparer. To test your basic
knowledge of financial statements, your manager, who graduated from your
alma mater 2 years ago, gives you the following list of accounts and asks you 
to prepare a simple income statement using those accounts.

a. Arrange the accounts into a well-labeled income statement. Make sure 
you label and solve for gross profit, operating profit, and net profit 
before taxes.

b. Using a 35% tax rate, calculate taxes paid and net profit after taxes.
c. Assuming a dividend of $1.10 per share with 4.25 million shares out-

standing, calculate EPS and additions to retained earnings.

E2–2 Explain why the income statement can also be called a “profit and loss state-
ment.” What exactly does the word “balance” mean in the title of the balance
sheet? Why do we balance the two halves?

E2–3 Cooper Industries, Inc., began 2006 with retained earnings of $25.32 million.
During the year it paid four quarterly dividends of $0.35 per share to 2.75 mil-
lion common stockholders. Preferred stockholders, holding 500,000 shares,
were paid two semiannual dividends of $0.75 per share. The firm had a net
profit after taxes of $5.15 million. Prepare the statement of retained earnings 
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

E2–4 Bluestone Metals, Inc., is a metal fabrication firm which manufactures prefabri-
cated metal parts for customers in a variety of industries. The firm’s motto is 
“If you need it, we can make it.” The CEO of Bluestone recently held a board
meeting during which he extolled the virtues of the corporation. The company,
he stated confidently, had the capability to build any product and could do so
using a lean manufacturing model. The firm would soon be profitable, claimed
the CEO, because the company used state of the art technology to build a
variety of products while keeping inventory levels low. As a business press
reporter, you have calculated some ratios to analyze the financial health of the
firm. Bluestone’s current ratios and quick ratios for the past six years are shown
in the table on the facing page.

LG3

LG1

LG1

Accounts ($000,000)

Depreciation 25

General and administrative expenses 22

Sales 345

Sales expenses 18

Cost of goods sold 155

Lease expense 4

Interest expense 3

LG1
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What do you think of the CEO’s claim that the firm is lean and soon to be 
profitable? (Hint: Is there a possible warning sign in the relationship between
the two ratios?)

E2–5 If we know that a firm has a net profit margin of 4.5%, total asset turnover of
0.72, and an equity multiplier of 1.43, what is its ROE? What is the advantage
to using the DuPont system to calculate ROE over the direct calculation of earn-
ings available for common stockholders " common stock equity?

PROBLEMS

P2–1 Reviewing basic financial statements The income statement for the year ended
December 31, 2006, the balance sheets for December 31, 2006 and 2005, and
the statement of retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006, for
Technica, Inc., are given below and on page 76. Briefly discuss the form and
informational content of each of these statements.

LG1

LG5

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Current ratio 1.2 1.4 1.3 1.6 1.8 2.2

Quick ratio 1.1 1.3 1.2 0.8 0.6 0.4

CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 75

BASIC

Technica, Inc.
Income Statement

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales revenue $600,000

Less: Cost of goods sold

Gross profits $140,000

Less: Operating expenses

General and administrative expenses $30,000

Depreciation expense

Total operating expense

Operating profits $ 80,000

Less: Interest expense

Net profits before taxes $ 70,000

Less: Taxes

Earnings available for common stockholders

Earnings per share (EPS) $2.15

$  42,900

27,100

10,000

60,000

30,000

460,000
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76 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

Technica, Inc.
Balance Sheets

December 31

Assets 2006 2005

Cash $ 15,000 $ 16,000

Marketable securities 7,200 8,000

Accounts receivable 34,100 42,200

Inventories

Total current assets

Land and buildings $150,000 $150,000

Machinery and equipment 200,000 190,000

Furniture and fixtures 54,000 50,000

Other

Total gross fixed assets $415,000 $400,000

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Net fixed assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Accounts payable $ 57,000 $ 49,000

Notes payable 13,000 16,000

Accruals

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock equity (shares 
outstanding: 19,500 in 2006 
and 20,000 in 2005) $110,200 $120,000

Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $401,200$408,300

$170,200$183,300

50,20073,100

$160,000$150,000

$ 71,000$ 75,000

6,0005,000

$401,200$408,300

$285,000$270,000

115,000145,000

10,00011,000

$116,200$138,300

50,00082,000

Technica, Inc.
Statement of Retained Earnings

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Retained earnings balance (January 1, 2006) $50,200

Plus: Net profits after taxes (for 2006) 42,900

Less: Cash dividends (paid during 2006)

Retained earnings balance (December 31, 2006) $73,100

20,000

P2–2 Financial statement account identification Mark each of the accounts listed in
the table on the facing page as follows:
a. In column (1), indicate in which statement—income statement (IS) or balance

sheet (BS)—the account belongs.

LG1

BASIC
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b. In column (2), indicate whether the account is a current asset (CA), current
liability (CL), expense (E), fixed asset (FA), long-term debt (LTD), revenue
(R), or stockholders’ equity (SE).

P2–3 Income statement preparation On December 31, 2006, Cathy Chen, a self-
employed certified public accountant (CPA), completed her first full year in
business. During the year, she billed $360,000 for her accounting services. She
had two employees: a bookkeeper and a clerical assistant. In addition to her
monthly salary of $8,000, Ms. Chen paid annual salaries of $48,000 and
$36,000 to the bookkeeper and the clerical assistant, respectively. Employment
taxes and benefit costs for Ms. Chen and her employees totaled $34,600 for the
year. Expenses for office supplies, including postage, totaled $10,400 for the
year. In addition, Ms. Chen spent $17,000 during the year on tax-deductible
travel and entertainment associated with client visits and new business develop-
ment. Lease payments for the office space rented (a tax-deductible expense)
were $2,700 per month. Depreciation expense on the office furniture and

LG1

(1) (2)
Account name Statement Type of account

Accounts payable _______ _______

Accounts receivable _______ _______

Accruals _______ _______

Accumulated depreciation _______ _______

Administrative expense _______ _______

Buildings _______ _______

Cash _______ _______

Common stock (at par) _______ _______

Cost of goods sold _______ _______

Depreciation _______ _______

Equipment _______ _______

General expense _______ _______

Interest expense _______ _______

Inventories _______ _______

Land _______ _______

Long-term debts _______ _______

Machinery _______ _______

Marketable securities _______ _______

Notes payable _______ _______

Operating expense _______ _______

Paid-in capital in excess of par _______ _______

Preferred stock _______ _______

Preferred stock dividends _______ _______

Retained earnings _______ _______

Sales revenue _______ _______

Selling expense _______ _______

Taxes _______ _______

Vehicles _______ _______
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INTERMEDIATE
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fixtures was $15,600 for the year. During the year, Ms. Chen paid interest of
$15,000 on the $120,000 borrowed to start the business. She paid an average
tax rate of 30 percent during 2006.
a. Prepare an income statement for Cathy Chen, CPA, for the year ended

December 31, 2006.
b. Evaluate her 2006 financial performance.

P2–4 Calculation of EPS and retained earnings Philagem, Inc., ended 2006 with a
net profit before taxes of $218,000. The company is subject to a 40% tax rate
and must pay $32,000 in preferred stock dividends before distributing any earn-
ings on the 85,000 shares of common stock currently outstanding.
a. Calculate Philagem’s 2006 earnings per share (EPS).
b. If the firm paid common stock dividends of $0.80 per share, how many

dollars would go to retained earnings?

P2–5 Balance sheet preparation Use the appropriate items from the following list 
to prepare in good form Owen Davis Company’s balance sheet at December 31,
2006.

P2–6 Initial sale price of common stock Beck Corporation has one issue of preferred
stock and one issue of common stock outstanding. Given Beck’s stockholders’
equity account that follows, determine the original price per share at which the
firm sold its single issue of common stock.

LG1

LG1

LG1

78 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

Value ($000) at Value ($000) at
Item December 31, 2006 Item December 31, 2006

Accounts payable $ 220 Inventories $ 375

Accounts receivable 450 Land 100

Accruals 55 Long-term debts 420

Accumulated depreciation 265 Machinery 420

Buildings 225 Marketable securities 75

Cash 215 Notes payable 475

Common stock (at par) 90 Paid-in capital in excess 

Cost of goods sold 2,500 of par 360

Depreciation expense 45 Preferred stock 100

Equipment 140 Retained earnings 210

Furniture and fixtures 170 Sales revenue 3,600

General expense 320 Vehicles 25

Stockholders’ Equity ($000)

Preferred stock $ 125
Common stock ($0.75 par, 300,000 shares outstanding) 225
Paid-in capital in excess of par on common stock 2,625
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity $3,875

900

INTERMEDIATE

INTERMEDIATE

BASIC
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CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 79

P2–7 Statement of retained earnings Hayes Enterprises began 2006 with a retained
earnings balance of $928,000. During 2006, the firm earned $377,000 after
taxes. From this amount, preferred stockholders were paid $47,000 in divi-
dends. At year-end 2006, the firm’s retained earnings totaled $1,048,000. 
The firm had 140,000 shares of common stock outstanding during 2006.
a. Prepare a statement of retained earnings for the year ended December 31,

2006, for Hayes Enterprises. (Note: Be sure to calculate and include the
amount of cash dividends paid in 2006.)

b. Calculate the firm’s 2006 earnings per share (EPS).
c. How large a per-share cash dividend did the firm pay on common stock

during 2006?

P2–8 Ratio comparisons Robert Arias recently inherited a stock portfolio from his
uncle. Wishing to learn more about the companies in which he is now invested,
Robert performs a ratio analysis on each one and decides to compare them to
each other. Some of his ratios are listed below.

Assuming that his uncle was a wise investor who assembled the portfolio with
care, Robert finds the wide differences in these ratios confusing. Help him out.
a. What problems might Robert encounter in comparing these companies to

one another on the basis of their ratios?
b. Why might the current and quick ratios for the electric utility and the 

fast-food stock be so much lower than the same ratios for the other
companies?

c. Why might it be all right for the electric utility to carry a large amount 
of debt, but not the software company?

d. Why wouldn’t investors invest all of their money in software companies
instead of in less profitable companies? (Focus on risk and return.)

P2–9 Liquidity management Bauman Company’s total current assets, total current
liabilities, and inventory for each of the past 4 years follow:

a. Calculate the firm’s current and quick ratios for each year. Compare the
resulting time series for these measures of liquidity.

b. Comment on the firm’s liquidity over the 2003–2006 period.

Item 2003 2004 2005 2006

Total current assets $16,950 $21,900 $22,500 $27,000
Total current liabilities 9,000 12,600 12,600 17,400
Inventory 6,000 6,900 6,900 7,200

LG3

Island Burger Fink Roland
Ratio Electric Utility Heaven Software Motors

Current ratio 1.10 1.3 6.8 4.5
Quick ratio 0.90 0.82 5.2 3.7
Debt ratio 0.68 0.46 0 0.35
Net profit margin 6.2% 14.3% 28.5% 8.4%

LG5LG4LG3LG2

LG1

INTERMEDIATE

BASIC

BASIC
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c. If you were told that Bauman Company’s inventory turnover for each year in
the 2003–2006 period and the industry averages were as follows, would this
information support or conflict with your evaluation in part b? Why?

P2–10 Inventory management Wilkins Manufacturing has annual sales of $4 million
and a gross profit margin of 40%. Its end-of-quarter inventories are

a. Find the average quarterly inventory and use it to calculate the firm’s inven-
tory turnover and the average age of inventory.

b. Assuming that the company is in an industry with an average inventory
turnover of 2.0, how would you evaluate the activity of Wilkins’ inventory?

P2–11 Accounts receivable management An evaluation of the books of Blair Supply,
which follows, gives the end-of-year accounts receivable balance, which is
believed to consist of amounts originating in the months indicated. The com-
pany had annual sales of $2.4 million. The firm extends 30-day credit terms.
a. Use the year-end total to evaluate the firm’s collection system.

LG3

Quarter Inventory

1 $ 400,000
2 800,000
3 1,200,000
4 200,000

LG3

Inventory turnover 2003 2004 2005 2006

Bauman Company 6.3 6.8 7.0 6.4
Industry average 10.6 11.2 10.8 11.0

80 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

BASIC

BASIC

Month of origin Amounts receivable

July $ 3,875

August 2,000

September 34,025

October 15,100

November 52,000

December

Year-end accounts receivable $300,000

193,000

b. If 70% of the firm’s sales occur between July and December, would this
affect the validity of your conclusion in part a? Explain.

P2–12 Debt analysis Springfield Bank is evaluating Creek Enterprises, which has
requested a $4,000,000 loan, to assess the firm’s financial leverage and financial
risk. On the basis of the debt ratios for Creek, along with the industry averages
and Creek’s recent financial statements (on the facing page), evaluate and
recommend appropriate action on the loan request.

LG4

BASIC
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CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 81

Creek Enterprises
Income Statement

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales revenue $30,000,000
Less: Cost of goods sold
Gross profits $  9,000,000
Less: Operating expenses

Selling expense $3,000,000
General and administrative expenses 1,800,000
Lease expense 200,000
Depreciation expense

Total operating expense
Operating profits $  3,000,000
Less: Interest expense
Net profits before taxes $  2,000,000
Less: Taxes (rate = 40%)
Net profits after taxes $  1,200,000
Less: Preferred stock dividends
Earnings available for common stockholders $ 1,100,000

100,000

800,000

1,000,000

6,000,000
1,000,000

21,000,000

Creek Enterprises
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2006

Assets Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current assets Current liabilities
Cash $ 1,000,000 Accounts payable $ 8,000,000
Marketable securities 3,000,000 Notes payable 8,000,000
Accounts receivable 12,000,000 Accruals
Inventories Total current liabilities

Total current assets Long-term debt (includes financial leases)b

Gross fixed assets (at cost)a Stockholders’ equity
Land and buildings $11,000,000 Preferred stock (25,000 shares,
Machinery and equipment 20,500,000 $4 dividend) $  2,500,000
Furniture and fixtures Common stock (1 million shares at $5 par) 5,000,000

Gross fixed assets $39,500,000 Paid-in capital in excess of par value 4,000,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation Retained earnings
Net fixed assets Total stockholders’ equity
Total assets Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

aThe firm has a 4-year financial lease requiring annual beginning-of-year payments of $200,000. Three years of the lease have yet to run.
bRequired annual principal payments are $800,000.

$50,000,000$50,000,000
$13,500,000$26,500,000

2,000,00013,000,000

8,000,000

$20,000,000$23,500,000
$16,500,0007,500,000

500,000

Industry averages

Debt ratio 0.51
Times interest earned ratio 7.30
Fixed-payment coverage ratio 1.85
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P2–14 Ratio proficiency McDougal Printing, Inc., had sales totaling $40,000,000 in
fiscal year 2006. Some ratios for the company are listed below. Use this informa-
tion to determine the dollar values of various income statement and balance
sheet accounts as requested.

Calculate values for the following:
a. Gross profits e. Earnings available for common stockholders
b. Cost of goods sold f. Total assets
c. Operating profits g. Total common stock equity
d. Operating expenses h. Accounts receivable

McDougal Printing, Inc.
Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales $40,000,000

Gross profit margin 80%

Operating profit margin 35%

Net profit margin 8%

Return on total assets 16%

Return on common equity 20%

Total asset turnover 2

Average collection period 62.2 days

LG6

82 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

P2–13 Common-size statement analysis A common-size income statement for Creek
Enterprises’ 2005 operations follows. Using the firm’s 2006 income statement
presented in Problem 2–12, develop the 2006 common-size income statement
and compare it to the 2005 statement. Which areas require further analysis and
investigation?

LG5

BASIC

Creek Enterprises
Common-Size Income Statement

for the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Sales revenue ($35,000,000) 100.0%
Less: Cost of goods sold
Gross profits 34.1%
Less: Operating expenses

Selling expense 12.7%
General and administrative expenses 6.3
Lease expense 0.6
Depreciation expense

Total operating expense
Operating profits 10.9%
Less: Interest expense
Net profits before taxes 9.4%
Less: Taxes (rate ! 40%)
Net profits after taxes 5.6%
Less: Preferred stock dividends
Earnings available for common stockholders %5.5

0.1

3.8

1.5

23.2
3.6

65.9

INTERMEDIATE
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P2–15 Cross-sectional ratio analysis Use the financial statements below and on 
page 84 for Fox Manufacturing Company for the year ended December 31,
2006, along with the industry average ratios also given in what follows, to:
a. Prepare and interpret a complete ratio analysis of the firm’s 2006 operations.
b. Summarize your findings and make recommendations.

LG6
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Fox Manufacturing Company
Income Statement

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales revenue $600,000
Less: Cost of goods sold
Gross profits $140,000
Less: Operating expenses

General and administrative expenses $30,000
Depreciation expense

Total operating expense
Operating profits $ 80,000
Less: Interest expense
Net profits before taxes $ 70,000
Less: Taxes
Net profits after taxes (earnings available

for common stockholders)

Earnings per share (EPS) $2.15

$ 42,900

27,100

10,000

60,000
30,000

460,000

INTERMEDIATE

Fox Manufacturing Company
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2006

Assets

Cash $ 15,000
Marketable securities 7,200
Accounts receivable 34,100
Inventories

Total current assets
Net fixed assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Accounts payable $ 57,000
Notes payable 13,000
Accruals

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Stockholders’ equity

Common stock equity (20,000 shares outstanding)
Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $408,300

$183,300
73,100

$110,200

$150,000
$ 75,000

5,000

$408,300
270,000

$138,300
82,000
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P2–16 Financial statement analysis The financial statements for Zach Industries 
for the year ended December 31, 2006, are presented below.

LG6

Ratio Industry average, 2006

Current ratio 2.35

Quick ratio 0.87

Inventory turnovera 4.55

Average collection perioda 35.8 days

Total asset turnover 1.09

Debt ratio 0.300

Times interest earned ratio 12.3

Gross profit margin 0.202

Operating profit margin 0.135

Net profit margin 0.091
Return on total assets (ROA) 0.099

Return on common equity (ROE) 0.167

Earnings per share (EPS) $3.10

aBased on a 365-day year and on end-of-year figures.

84 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

INTERMEDIATE

Zach Industries
Income Statement

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales revenue $160,000
Less: Cost of goods sold
Gross profits
Less: Operating expenses

Selling expense $  16,000
General and administrative expenses 10,000
Lease expense 1,000
Depreciation expense

Total operating expense
Operating profits $  17,000
Less: Interest expense
Net profits before taxes $  10,900
Less: Taxes
Net profits after taxes $ 6,540

4,360

6,100

$ 37,000
10,000

$ 54,000
106,000

Zach Industries
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2006

Assets

Cash $ 500
Marketable securities 1,000
Accounts receivable 25,000
Inventories

Total current assets
Land $  26,000
Buildings and equipment 90,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Net fixed assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Accounts payable $ 22,000
Notes payable

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt $  22,950
Common stocka $  31,500
Retained earnings
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

aThe firm’s 3,000 outstanding shares of common stock closed
2006 at a price of $25 per share.

$150,000
$ 26,550

$ 69,000
47,000

$150,000
$ 78,000

38,000

$ 72,000
45,500
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CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 85

a. Use the preceding financial statements to complete the following table.
Assume that the industry averages given in the table are applicable for both
2005 and 2006.

b. Analyze Zach Industries’ financial condition as it is related to (1) liquidity,
(2) activity, (3) debt, (4) profitability, and (5) market. Summarize the
company’s overall financial condition.

P2–17 DuPont system of analysis Use the following ratio information for 
Johnson International and the industry averages for Johnson’s line of 
business to:
a. Construct the DuPont system of analysis for both Johnson and the 

industry.
b. Evaluate Johnson (and the industry) over the 3-year period.
c. Indicate in which areas Johnson requires further analysis. 

Why?

2004 2005 2006

Johnson

Financial leverage multiplier 1.75 1.75 1.85

Net profit margin 0.059 0.058 0.049

Total asset turnover 2.11 2.18 2.34

Industry Averages

Financial leverage multiplier 1.67 1.69 1.64

Net profit margin 0.054 0.047 0.041

Total asset turnover 2.05 2.13 2.15

LG6

Industry
Ratio average Actual 2005 Actual 2006

Current ratio 1.80 1.84 ______

Quick ratio 0.70 0.78 ______

Inventory turnovera 2.50 2.59 ______

Average collection perioda 37.5 days 36.5 days ______

Debt ratio 65% 67% ______

Times interest earned ratio 3.8 4.0 ______

Gross profit margin 38% 40% ______

Net profit margin 3.5% 3.6% ______

Return on total assets 4.0% 4.0% ______

Return on common equity 9.5% 8.0% ______

Market/book ratio 1.1 1.2 ______

aBased on a 365-day year and on end-of-year figures.

INTERMEDIATE
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P2–18 ETHICS PROBLEM Do some reading in periodicals and/or on the Internet to
find out more about the Sarbanes-Oxley Act’s provisions for companies. Select
one of those provisions, and indicate why you think financial statements will 
be more trustworthy if company financial executives implement this provision
of SOX.

CHAPTER 2 Assessing Martin Manufacturing’s 
CASE Current Financial Position

Terri Spiro, an experienced budget analyst at Martin Manufacturing Company,
has been charged with assessing the firm’s financial performance during 2006

and its financial position at year-end 2006. To complete this assignment, she gath-
ered the firm’s 2006 financial statements (below and on the facing page). In addi-
tion, Terri obtained the firm’s ratio values for 2004 and 2005, along with the
2006 industry average ratios (also applicable to 2004 and 2005). These are pre-
sented in the table on page 88.

LG1
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Martin Manufacturing Company
Income Statement

for the Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sales revenue $5,075,000

Less: Cost of goods sold

Gross profits $1,371,000

Less: Operating expenses

Selling expense $650,000

General and administrative expenses 416,000

Depreciation expense

Total operating expense

Operating profits $ 153,000

Less: Interest expense

Net profits before taxes $ 60,000

Less: Taxes (rate ! 40%)

Net profits after taxes $ 36,000

Less: Preferred stock dividends

Earnings available for common stockholders

Earnings per share (EPS) $0.33

$ 33,000

3,000

24,000

93,000

1,218,000

152,000

3,704,000

INTERMEDIATE
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Note: Historical and industry average ratios appear at the top of page 88.
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Martin Manufacturing Company
Balance Sheets

December 31

Assets 2006 2005

Current assets

Cash $ 25,000 $ 24,100

Accounts receivable 805,556 763,900

Inventories

Total current assets

Gross fixed assets (at cost) $2,093,819 $1,691,707

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Net fixed assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 230,000 $ 400,500

Notes payable 311,000 370,000

Accruals

Total current liabilities $ 616,000 $ 871,402

Long-term debt

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity

Preferred stock (2,500 shares, $1.20 dividend) $ 50,000 $ 50,000

Common stock (100,000 shares at $4 par)a 400,000 400,000

Paid-in capital in excess of par value 593,750 593,750

Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

aThe firm’s 100,000 outstanding shares of common stock closed 2006 at a price of $11.38 
per share.

$2,895,152$3,125,000

$1,323,750$1,343,750

280,000300,000

$1,571,402$1,781,250

$ 700,000$1,165,250

100,90275,000

$2,895,152$3,125,000

$1,343,707$1,593,819

348,000500,000

$1,551,445$1,531,181

763,445700,625
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TO DO
a. Calculate the firm’s 2006 financial ratios, and then fill in the preceding table.

(Assume a 365-day year.)
b. Analyze the firm’s current financial position from both a cross-sectional and

a time-series viewpoint. Break your analysis into evaluations of the firm’s
liquidity, activity, debt, profitability, and market.

c. Summarize the firm’s overall financial position on the basis of your findings
in part b.

SPREADSHEET EXERCISE

The income statement and balance sheet are the basic reports that a firm con-
structs for use by management and for distribution to stockholders, regulatory
bodies, and the general public. They are the primary sources of historical finan-
cial information about the firm. Dayton Products, Inc., is a moderate-sized man-
ufacturer. The company’s management has asked you to perform a detailed
financial statement analysis of the firm.

The income statement data for the years ending December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively, are presented in the table at the top of the facing page. (Note:
Purchases of inventory during 2006 amounted to $109,865.)

You also have the following balance sheet information as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Martin Manufacturing Company
Historical and Industry Average Ratios

Actual Actual Actual Industry average
Ratio 2004 2005 2006 2006

Current ratio 1.7 1.8 ______ 1.5

Quick ratio 1.0 0.9 ______ 1.2

Inventory turnover (times) 5.2 5.0 ______ 10.2

Average collection period 50.7 days 55.8 days ______ 46 days

Total asset turnover (times) 1.5 1.5 ______ 2.0

Debt ratio 45.8% 54.3% ______ 24.5%

Times interest earned ratio 2.2 1.9 ______ 2.5

Gross profit margin 27.5% 28.0% ______ 26.0%

Net profit margin 1.1% 1.0% ______ 1.2%

Return on total assets (ROA) 1.7% 1.5% ______ 2.4%

Return on common equity (ROE) 3.1% 3.3% ______ 3.2%

Price/earnings (P/E) ratio 33.5 38.7 ______ 43.4

Market/book (M/B) ratio 1.0 1.1 ______ 1.2

88 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance
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TO DO
a. Create a spreadsheet similar to the spreadsheet in Table 2.1 (which can be

viewed at www.aw-bc.com/gitman) to model the following:
(1) A multiple-step comparative income statement for Dayton, Inc., for the

periods ending December 31, 2006 and 2005. You must calculate the
cost of goods sold for the year 2006.

CHAPTER 2 Financial Statements and Analysis 89

Annual Balance Sheet
(Values in millions)

December 31, December, 31, 
2006 2005

Cash and equivalents $ 7,229.00 $ 6,547.00
Receivables 21,163.00 19,549.00
Inventories 8,068.00 7,904.00
Other current assets 1,831.00 1,681.00
Property, plant, and equipment, gross 204,960.00 187,519.00
Accumulated depreciation and depletion 110,020.00 97,917.00
Other noncurrent assets 19,413.00 17,891.00

Accounts payable $ 13,792.00 $ 22,862.00
Short-term debt payable 4,093.00 3,703.00
Other current liabilities 15,290.00 3,549.00
Long-term debt payable 6,655.00 7,099.00
Deferred income taxes 16,484.00 16,359.00
Other noncurrent liabilities 21,733.00 16,441.00

Retained earnings $ 74,597.00 $ 73,161.00

Total common shares outstanding 6.7 billion 6.8 billion

Annual Income Statement
(Values in millions)

For the year ended

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

Sales $178,909.00 $187,510.00
Cost of goods sold ? 111,631.00
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 12,356.00 12,900.00
Other tax expense 33,572.00 33,377.00
Depreciation and amortization 12,103.00 7,944.00
Other income (add to EBIT to arrive  at EBT) 3,147.00 3,323.00
Interest expense 398 293
Income tax rate (average) 35.324% 37.945%

Dividends paid per share $1.47 $0.91
Basic EPS from total operations $1.71 $2.25
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(2) A common-size income statement for Dayton, Inc., covering the years
2006 and 2005.

b. Create a spreadsheet similar to the spreadsheet in Table 2.2 (which can be
viewed at www.aw-bc.com/gitman) to model the following:
(1) A detailed, comparative balance sheet for Dayton, Inc., for the years

ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.
(2) A common-size balance sheet for Dayton, Inc., covering the years 2006

and 2005.
c. Create a spreadsheet similar to the spreadsheet in Table 2.8 (which can be

viewed at www.aw-bc.com/gitman) to perform the following analysis:
(1) Create a table that reflects both 2006 and 2005 operating ratios for

Dayton, Inc., segmented into (a) liquidity, (b) activity, (c) debt, (d) prof-
itability, and (e) market. Assume that the current market price for the
stock is $90.

(2) Compare the 2006 ratios to the 2005 ratios. Indicate whether the results
“outperformed the prior year” or “underperformed relative to the prior
year.”

WEB EXERCISE

For this assignment, you will need a Web-based search engine such as Google.

TO DO
a. Enter the term “stock market” as a search keyword. Scan the results for the

New York Stock Exchange and Nasdaq home sites. Compare and contrast
the two stock markets’ home pages.

b. Return to your search engine and search for “financial markets.” Report on
your findings, including a synopsis of a free site that you feel had very usable
financial market news and analysis. This site should be used as a source of
information in future assignments, so spend some time looking for a good site.

WWW

90 PART 1 Introduction to Managerial Finance

Remember to check the book’s Web site at 

www.aw-bc.com/gitman

for additional resources, including additional Web exercises.
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